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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT   

 FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA  

  

  

Neil Anand, et al.,    :  

: CASE NO. 21-1635-CKK  

Plaintiffs, :  

Howard Adelglass                                          :  

Intervenor    :  

v.                                             :  

                                     :  

U.S. Department of Health and  :  

Human Services et al.,   :  

Defendants, :  

:  

  

Motion for Intervention of Right Pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure  

Rule 24 (a) and Permissive Intervention Pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 24 (b)  

  

Intervenor Howard Adelglass M.D., moves Pro-Se, opposed by Defendants, and requests Motion to 

Intervene based on rights and permission pursuant to F.R.C.P. Rule 24. The Intervenor seeks to provide a clear 

relation basis to the Plaintiffs. The issues are: 1) suitable for judicial resolution, 2) the withholding judicial 

review would cause undue hardship, and impair rights to the Intervenor, 3) Intervenor and the Plaintiffs Anand 

and Pompy have a common nucleus of operative facts resulting in damage and harm to Intervenor and his 

upcoming criminal trial (U.S. v Howard Adelglass, case# 20 Cr. 605 (KMW), Southern District of New York) 

which can be resolved through Judicial Relief by the Court, 4) Intervenor requests that the Honorable Judge 

allow intervention by right and permission for purposes of judicial economy, 5) Intervenor Adelglass needs the 

requested pertinent information to assist in his upcoming criminal trial.   

On 5/11/2022 Intervenor Adelglass submitted different FOIA requests (Exhibit 1) to the USDOJ and 

Defendant Drug Enforcement Agency at DOJ.OIP.FOIA@usdoj.gov, DEA.FOIA@usdoj.gov, ogis@nara.gov 

and MRUFOIA.Requests@usdoj.gov by e-mail.  On 5/26/2022 the U.S. Department of Justice, Drug 

Enforcement Administration /Freedom of Information and Privacy Act Unit and Douglas R. Hibbard Chief, 

Initial Request Staff, U.S. Department of Justice Office of Information Policy Sixth Floor 441 G Street, NW 

Washington, DC 20530-0001 sent Howard Adelglass at 151 E. 80 Street #2C, New York, NY 10075, and via e-

mail at dradelglass@gmail.com, Mr. Hibbard wrote: “You have requested expedited processing of your request 

pursuant to the Department’s standard involving the “loss of substantial due process rights.” See 28 C.F.R. § 

16.5(e)(1)(iii). Based on the information you have provided, I have determined that your request for expedited 

processing under this standard should be denied. Courts are reluctant to grant expedited processing unless a 

requester can show (1) that [he] is facing grave punishment [in a criminal proceeding], and (2) that there is 

reason to believe information will be produced to aid the individual’s defense.” Freeman v. United States 
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Department of Justice, No. 92-0557, slip op. at 4 (D.D.C. Oct. 2, 1992). Neither of these circumstances is 

present here.” (Exhibit 2)  

Under Rule 24(a), a party may seek to intervene “of right” on a timely motion if that party claims an 

interest in the pending litigation “and is so situated that disposing of the action may as a practical matter impair 

or impede the movant’s ability to protect its interest, unless existing parties adequately represent that interest.” 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)(2). Moreover, the party’s interest must not be adequately represented by existing parties to 

the action. See Defenders of Wildlife v. Perciasepe, 14 F.3d 1317, 1322–23 (D.C. Cir. 2013). Intervenor 

Adelglass makes the instant claim that he must intervene in the current FOIA action to protect his interest in 

information critical to him in light of the recent legal rulings of the United States Supreme Court, Xiulu Ruan v. 

United States, No. 20–1410. Argued March 1, 2022—Decided June 27, 2022, in order to aid his criminal 

defense in U.S. v Howard Adelglass, case# 20 Cr. 605 (KMW), Southern District of New York).  Furthermore, 

the Defendants are currently opposing Plaintiffs Pompy and Anand ability to amend their complaint despite the 

worldwide release of pertinent new information from United States Department of Justice (USDOJ) pertaining 

to the usage of mathematical algorithms utilized to induce the mass incarceration of physicians and other 

medical professionals (https://www.justice.gov/opa/pr/justice-department-s-criminal-division-creates-new-

england-prescription-opioid-strike-force).  Disposition by the District Court of the present FOIA action in favor 

of the Defendants would impede any ability for Intervenor Adelglass to protect his interest in the requested 

information.  The District Court’s denial of the FOIA information will cause future incarceration of U.S. 

physicians and contribute greatly to additional patient deaths nationwide.  

The requests for documents possessed by the Defendants concerning legal arguments by the United 

States Solicitor General Eric Feigin must be produced expeditiously pursuant to FOIA.  The documents 

requested by Intervenor Adelglass also constitute compulsory and timely materials denied to physician criminal 

defendants nationwide violating the due process of criminal trials particularly against physicians.  See United 

States v Presser, 844 F 2d 1275, 1283 (6th Cir 1988). Furthermore, Fed R Crim P 16 (a)(1)(E)(i)-(iii) mandates 

disclosure of compulsory and timely materials “in time for its effective use at trial”. The Supreme Court has 

defined impeachment material as `evidence favorable to an accused . . . so that, if disclosed and used 

effectively, it may make the difference between conviction and acquittal.' United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 

[667], 105 S.Ct. 3375, 3380 [ 87 L.Ed.2d 481] (1985). Impeachment evidence need not be exculpatory in the 

traditional sense of tending to negate guilt. Rather, such material deals with the credibility of witnesses. The 

Third Circuit stated in United States v. Higgs, 713 F.2d 39 (3rd Cir. 1983), and also in United States v. 

Starusko, 729 F.2d 256 (3rd Cir. 1984), that it believes the Brady doctrine is not violated if Brady material is 

disclosed in time for its "effective" use at trial. See Starusko, 729 F.2d at 262; Higgs, 713 F.2d at 44. 

In Starusko, however, the Third Circuit did indicate that in its view, there may be special circumstances when 

https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-higgs-2
https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-starusko
https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-starusko#p262
https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-higgs-2#p44
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the Brady doctrine may require the disclosure of Jencks Act material before trial. In the Third Circuit's view, the 

situation could arise when the Jencks Act material truly is exculpatory of the charge against the defendant. See 

Starusko, 729 F.2d at 262-65. The court implied however, that the Brady doctrine may require pre-trial 

disclosure in such a situation because of the due process foundation of the doctrine, that is, that it is 

fundamentally unfair of the prosecution to withhold from the defendant until trial, material which seemingly 

does prove innocence and therefore, which could obviate the need for a trial altogether. The Third Circuit noted 

that a prosecutor who withholds such material most likely violates professional ethical canons. However, the 

court did not state that it was establishing the rule that if exculpatory material is disclosed in time for use at trial, 

but that the material could have been disclosed earlier, a violation of constitutional law has occurred.   

Although previous Intervenors may have failed in their motions to this Court, in this legal action, 

Movant Adelglass intends to satisfy the requirements for permissive intervention to this Court under Rule 24(b), 

pursuant to which the Court “may permit anyone to intervene” who “(A) is given a conditional right to 

intervene by federal statute; or (B) has a claim or defense that shares with the main action a common question 

of law or fact.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(b). See EEOC v. Nat’l Children’s Ctr., Inc., 146 F.3d 1042, 1046 (D.C. Cir. 

1998). Movant Adelglass plainly satisfies this standard citing federal statutes supra and infra providing 

Adelglass a conditional right to intervene in the instant case against the Defendants. Movant Adelglass 

furthermore has a relevant “claim” related to the main action as relates to Intervenor Adelglass’s criminal 

defense as well as future plans to litigate his interests and argue the violation of the human rights of U.S. 

physicians as a Class within the International Court of Justice, which has its seat in The Hague, and is the 

principal judicial organ of the United Nations.  

On June 11, 2021, pro se Plaintiffs Neil Anand and Lesly Pompy (collectively,“Plaintiffs”) filed the 

instant Freedom of Information Act (“FOIA”), 5 U.S.C. § 552, action against the U.S. Department of Health 

and Human Services (“HHS”) and the U.S. Drug Enforcement Administration (“DEA”). The genesis of their 

case concerns a FOIA request submitted by Plaintiff on April 17, 2021, to HHS – Office of Inspector General 

(“HHS-OIG”) seeking a number of records, including records on “data analytics algorithms used in the Pill Mill 

Doctor Project; all reports and work products generated by contractor Qlarant Corporation concerning the Pill 

Mill Doctor Project; statement of work and official contract of Qlarant Corporation; all reports from Blue Cross 

Blue Shield Corporation to OIG concerning improper prescribing of opiates by specific physicians and all 

reports of OIG concerning Neil Anand or Institute of Advanced Medicine and Surgery.” See Compl. Ex. B. 

Additionally, Intervenor Adelglass filed FOIA requests on May 11, 2022 to DOJ.OIP.FOIA@usdoj.gov,  

DEA.FOIA@usdoj.gov, MRUFOIA.Requests@usdoj.gov, and ogis@nara.gov, seeking a number of records 

including records on “data analytics algorithms” use in the Pill Mill Doctor Project; reports from Blue Cross 

Blue Shield Corporation and HFPP concerning improper prescribing of opiates by specific physicians and all 

https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-starusko#p262
mailto:DOJ.OIP.FOIA@usdoj.gov
mailto:DEA.FOIA@usdoj.gov
mailto:MRUFOIA.Requests@usdoj.gov
mailto:ogis@nara.gov
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reports of USDOJ concerning Howard Adelglass” (See attached Exhibit 1).  Intervenor Adelglass has now 

received three non-responses, devoid of information, (Exhibits 2 and 3) from: Douglas Hibbard, Chief, Initial 

Request Staff, Office of Information Policy (OIP) and OIP; Drug Enforcement Administration’s (DEA) 

Freedom of Information and Privacy Act Unit (CCAR); and Office of Government Information Services. 

Dr. Adelglass also requested expedited processing of his requests pursuant to the USDOJ’s standard 

involving the “loss of substantial due process rights.” See 28 C.F.R. § 16.5(e)(1)(iii) (2018). Based on the 

information he provided, the Defendants/ OIP determined that his request for expedited processing under this 

standard should be denied. The Defendants/ OIP stated that Courts are reluctant to grant expedited processing 

unless a requester can show (1) “that [he] is facing grave punishment [in a criminal proceeding], and (2) that 

there is reason to believe information will be produced to aid the individual’s defense.” Freeman v. United 

States Department of Justice, No. 92-0557, slip op. at 4 (D.D.C. Oct. 2, 1992). The indictments in this case 

against Intervenor Adelglass (U.S. v Howard Adelglass, case# 20 Cr. 605 (KMW), Southern District of New 

York) asserts, inter alia, that Intervenor Adelglass illegally prescribed and distributed various commonly abused 

opioids. Intervenor Adelglass is presumed innocent, and has elevated status to obtain FOIA information from 

the Defendants for impeachment purposes.  The outcome of criminal proceedings for Intervenor 

Adelglass would be different without the release of the information from Defendants as requested by Howard 

Adelglass via FOIA.  The refusal of the Defendants /OIP to release the information would lead to a finding of 

cumulative error.  The Defendants/OIP’s denial of release of the information requested in an expedited rolling 

process will be prejudicial to Intervenor Adelglass in his upcoming criminal trial United States v. Adelglass.   In 

this case, the failure of Defendants /OIP to release the requested FOIA information will reduce the chance of 

Adelglass to defend each element of the charged crime in United States v. Adelglass.  The Defendants /OIP’s 

error and failure to process Intervenor Adelglass’s FOIA requests in an expedited rolling process would not be 

harmless.  Additionally, the FOIA information requested would be critical to other physicians facing allegations 

of improper prescribing can alter the outcome of their criminal proceeding by being better informed when 

taking a plea bargain, proceeding to a jury trial, or if proceeding to trial, deciding on the optimum trial 

strategy.  The lack of production of the FOIA requests in an expedited manner will prejudice criminal defendant 

physicians in three ways: "oppressive pretrial incarceration, anxiety and concern caused by the delay, and an 

impaired defense." ( Foster, 1997 ND 8, ¶ 12, 560 N.W.2d 194 ).  Significant anxiety and concern will be 

caused to other pain specialists or substance abuse doctors who are uncertain as to the exact proscribed 

behaviors involving controlled substances in the treatment of patients.    

It is Dr. Adelglass grave concern that no meaningful documents will be released to him which are 

critical for him to receive prior to his upcoming trial (U.S. v Howard Adelglass, case# 20 Cr. 605 (KMW), 

Southern District of New York) as DEA and USDOJ appear to be “stonewalling” him and obstructing fulfilling 

https://fc7.fastcase.com/results?docUid=2072581
https://fc7.fastcase.com/results?docUid=2072581
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his request for information which is entitled to him under federal law.  An agency may meet its burden solely on 

the basis of affidavits or declarations, see Valencia-Lucena v. U.S. Coast Guard, 180 F.3d 321, 326 (D.C. Cir. 

1999), as long as they "describe the documents and the justifications for nondisclosure with reasonably specific 

detail, demonstrate that the information withheld logically falls within the claimed exemption, and are not 

controverted by either contrary evidence in the record [or] by evidence of agency bad faith," Military Audit 

Project v. Casey, 656 F.2d 724, 738 (D.C. Cir. 1981).   

Dr. Adelglass upcoming criminal trial mandates expedited FOIA disclosure under Freeman v. Dep't of 

Justice, No. 92-0557 (D.D.C. Oct. 2, 1992) ("exceptional circumstances"/"due diligence": vacates, in part, 

court's May 22, 1992 order; because of the limited scope of plaintiff's FOIA request and because plaintiff has 

demonstrated that the information will assist him in his defense against state criminal charges for securities 

fraud where discovery of these records would not be available, orders the defendant to comply with plaintiff's 

FOIA request by December 31, 1992; and also by that date, to file a Vaughn Index of those documents or 

document portions for which it invokes exemptions).    

Intervenor Adelglass’s upcoming criminal trial mandates expedited FOIA disclosure under Brady [( Brady 

v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963) ]. A Government's failure to disclose the 

requested Brady information that a respondent could have used to conduct an effective cross-examination 

impairs a respondent's right to confront adverse witnesses. The court noted: "In Davis v. Alaska, . . . the 

Supreme Court held that the denial of the 'right of effective cross-examination' was "constitutional error of the 

first magnitude" requiring automatic reversal." 719 F.2d, at 1464 (quoting Davis v. Alaska, 415 U.S. 308, 318, 

94 S.Ct. 1105 1111, 39 L.Ed.2d 347 (1974).  

There is no question that “[i]f an agency receives a FOIA request for documents within its possession, 

the agency is responsible for processing the request and ‘cannot simply refuse to act on the ground that the 

documents originated elsewhere.’ ” Keys v. Dep't of Homeland Sec., 570 F.Supp.2d 59, 66 (D.D.C.2008) 

(quoting McGehee v. CIA, 697 F.2d 1095, 1110 (D.C.Cir.1983)). However, it is equally clear that the law 

permits an agency to “adopt procedures by which documents in the agency's possession, but which did not 

originate with the agency, may be referred to the originating agency for processing.” Id.; see McGehee, 697 

F.2d at 1110. The D.C. Circuit has not adopted a “bright line” rule for when referral of responsive records to 

another agency constitutes an improper withholding; rather, it has stated that “[t]he legal status of [referral] 

procedures [is] best determined on the basis of their consequences.” McGehee, 697 F.2d at 1110–11. Thus, a 

referral is an improper withholding of documents “if its net effect is significantly to impair the requester's 

ability to obtain the records or significantly to increase the amount of time [the requestor] must wait to obtain 

them[.]” Id. And such a procedure is deemed improper when the agency cannot “offer a reasonable explanation 

for its procedure.” Id. at 1110; see also id. (noting that it would be “highly difficult to justify” “a procedure that, 
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in practice, imposed very large burdens on requestors (e.g., by compelling [requestors] to pay huge processing 

costs or to submit separate requests to a number of independent bodies) or that resulted in very long delays”).  

To assist courts in evaluating the legality of an agency's referral procedures, the D.C. Circuit in 

McGehee suggested a non-binding sample procedure, see McGehee, 697 F.2d at 1111, that focuses on the 

consequences of an agency referral procedure, and in particular (1) “whether the originating agency 

demonstrated an intent to control the records at issue[;]” (2) “whether the referral was ‘prompt and public’[;]” 

and (3) considering “the burden that the referral procedure places on the requestor, including whether he would 

be required to file a separate FOIA request to the originating agency.” Keys, 570 F.Supp.2d at 67 (citing 

McGehee, 670 F.2d at 1111).  

Intervenor Adelglass is requesting a waiver of all search and duplication fees, since the purpose of 

Intervenor’s FOIA request is simply to advance the public interest and for his criminal defense. All the records 

that will eventually be produced by Intervenor’s FOIA requests will be made publicly available for free through 

distribution to all medical schools, nursing schools, pharmacy schools, residency programs, fellowship 

programs and continuing education programs for Healthcare Providers (HCP).   Intervenor Adelglass is seeking 

vital information concerning USDOJ/DEA and Health and Human Services/OIG “Pill Mill Doctor Project” as 

well as associated documents needed to determine whether the DEA and HHS is willfully and knowingly 

“targeting” patients who are suffering from pain or addiction and the physicians who treat such diseases. 

Intervenor Adelglass is also seeking information whether the USDOJ/DEA and HHS/CMS/OIG are prosecuting 

individual practitioners as compared to large practices of physicians, older more experienced physicians as 

compared to younger physicians (for the purposes of confiscation of wealth), and Jewish physicians as 

compared to non-Jewish physicians. Intervenor Adelglass asserts and argues to this Court that he holds a 

cumulative list of nearly 175 Jewish physicians who have been prosecuted by the DEA/USDOJ for violations 

the Controlled Substance Act (CSA) and/or Healthcare Fraud (see Appendix A).  Dr. Adelglass is in possession 

of evidence of discriminatory practices (see Appendix A and B) by Defendants in violation of the 14th 

Constitutional Amendment Equal Protection Clauses.    

The Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) requires federal agencies to disclose such public information 

upon a citizen's request unless the information falls within exemptions from disclosure identified in 5 U.S.C. § 

552(b). 5 U.S.C. § 552(a)(1), (2) and (3); Oregon Natural Desert Association v. Locke, 572 F.3d 610, 614 (9th 

Cir. 2009). Where an agency refuses to produce requested information, FOIA permits an aggrieved party to file 

a civil action in federal district court requesting the court order the agency to produce the information. 5 U.S.C. 

552(a)(4)(B). The FOIA applies only to the executive branch of the federal government, see 5 U.S.C. § 551. 5 

U.S.C. § 552 (1976), provides that the Freedom of Information Act (FOIA) is the chief federal law mandating 

openness in government files. Originally passed in 1966 and amended in 1974, 1976, and 1978, the FOIA Act 
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provides that "any person" has a legal right to see all "agency records" except those exempted by subsection (b) 

of the Act "FOIA applies to only to 'agencies,'..." Penn v. U.S. Dep't of Justice (E.D. Cal. 2011).  The 

Defendants are federal agencies of the U.S. Executive Branch within the meaning of FOIA and thus the 

Defendants and OIP must satisfy Intervenor Adelglass’s FOIA request.    

U.S. Attorney Office Prosecutors know or should have known of outcome uncertainty inherent in the 

Defendants mathematical algorithms used in speeding, coordinating and strengthening convictions of doctors. 

The computer algorithms and data analytic targeting packages of Defendants, as well as the validity and 

reliability testing of Defendants criminal forensic, pre-crime criminal forensic tools are withheld from criminal 

defense trial attorneys. This information at either pre-trial advocacy or during a criminal trial would have 

impeached testimony based on novel ideas which were/are essential to the government's case in chief.   

"[T]he truth-seeking process is corrupted by the withholding of evidence favorable to the defense, regardless 

of whether the evidence is directly contradictory to evidence offered by the prosecution." Agurs, supra, 427 

U.S., at 120, 96 S.Ct., at 2405 (MARSHALL, J., dissenting).  ‘I begin from the fundamental premise, which 

hardly bears repeating’, that "[t]he purpose of a trial is as much the acquittal of an innocent person as it is the 

conviction of a guilty one." Application of Kapatos, 208 F.Supp. 883, 888 (SDNY 1962); see Giles v. 

Maryland, 386 U.S. 66, 98, (1967) (Fortas, J., concurring in judgment) ("The State's obligation is not to convict, 

but to see that, so far as possible, truth emerges").   

Bouloute v. U.S., 645 F.Supp.2d 125 (E.D. N.Y. 2009) provides: “A Brady violation may be established 

only if the suppressed evidence is material. Payne, 63 F.3d at 1208. "Materiality encompasses the notions that 

the suppressed evidence is favorable to the accused and that he was prejudiced by its suppression." U.S. v. 

Douglas, 525 F.3d 225, 244 (2d Cir.2008). Evidence is "material only if there is a reasonable probability that, 

had the evidence been disclosed to the defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different. A 

‘reasonable probability’ is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." Bagley, 473 U.S. at 

682, 105 S.Ct. 3375. See United States v. Bejasa, 904 F.2d 137, 140 (2d Cir.1990).”  

Under Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83, 83 S.Ct. 1194, 10 L.Ed.2d 215 (1963), and its progeny, the U.S. 

Attorney Office prosecutor has an affirmative duty to disclose evidence that is favorable to an accused where 

such evidence is material to either guilt or punishment. Strickler v. Greene, 527 U.S. 263, 280, 119 S.Ct. 1936, 

144 L.Ed.2d 286 (1999). That duty encompasses impeachment evidence as well as exculpatory evidence. 

United States v. Bagley,473 U.S. 667, 676, 105 S.Ct. 3375, 87 L.Ed.2d 481 (1985). United States v. McCord, 

509 F.2d 334, 342 n.14 (D.C. Cir. 1974) (stating that “‘prosecution’ includes all agencies of the federal 

government involved in any way in the prosecution of criminal litigation”)  

"Such evidence is material ‘if there is a reasonable probability that, had the evidence been disclosed to the 

defense, the result of the proceeding would have been different.’" Strickler, 527 U.S. at 280, 119 S.Ct. 1936 
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(quoting Bagley, 473 U.S. at 676, 105 S.Ct. 3375). Individual U.S. prosecutors have "a duty to learn of evidence 

known to others acting on the government's behalf in this case, including the police." Kyles v. Whitley, 514 U.S. 

419, 438, 115 S.Ct. 1555, 131 L.Ed.2d 490 (1995) (quoted in Strickler, 527 U.S. at 281, 119 S.Ct. 1936). See 

also United States v. Bagley, 473 U.S. 667 (1985) (finding possible Brady violation based on information 

known to law enforcement officers but not to prosecutor); United States v. Osorio, 929 F.2d 753, 760-61 (1st 

Cir. 1991) (holding prosecutor responsible for information in the hands of other prosecutors in the same office 

or of the Federal Bureau of Investigation).  

Bouloute v. U.S., 645 F.Supp.2d 125 (E.D. N.Y. 2009) provides:  "There are three components of a true 

Brady violation: The evidence at issue must be favorable to the accused, either because it is exculpatory, or 

because it is impeaching; that evidence must have been suppressed by the State, either willfully or 

inadvertently; and prejudice must have ensued." Strickler, 527 U.S. at 281-82, 119 S.Ct. 1936. See United 

States v. Coppa, 267 F.3d 132, 140 (2d Cir.2001).  Seeking to avoid prejudice, Intervenor Adelglass desires the 

statutory required exculpatory or impeachment evidence.  See United States v. McVeigh, 954 F. Supp. 1441 (D. 

Colo. 1997) (stating broad view of prosecutors’ obligations under Brady as agents of government).   

In Giglio v. United States, 405 U.S. 150, 154 [92 S.Ct. 763, 766, 31 L.Ed.2d 104] (1972), the Supreme 

Court held that: When the ‘reliability of a given witness may well be determinative of guilt or innocence,’ 

nondisclosure of evidence affecting credibility falls within this general rule.  Thus, the Brady doctrine, in its 

purest form, is the rule of law that the Due Process Clause is violated when the government achieves a 

conviction through the use of perjured testimony, e.g., Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 79 S.Ct. 1173, 3 L.Ed.2d 

1217 (1959), or by withholding a confession of guilt by someone other than the accused, e.g., Brady v. 

Maryland, or by withholding evidence "so clearly supportive of a claim of innocence that it gives the 

prosecution notice of a duty to produce," United States v. Agurs, 427 U.S. 97, 107, 96 S.Ct. 2392, 2399, 49 

L.Ed.2d 342 (1976).  

The “Pill Mill Doctor Project” and National Practitioner Data Bank has collected vast amounts of material 

information including the identities of criminally prosecuted physicians and healthcare providers. The 

information can make a difference if the information can affect the outcome of criminal proceedings involving 

the Controlled Substance Act or U.S. Health Care Fraud Statutes.  A denial of the release of the required 

information would constitute a Brady violation. The Defendants have a duty to disclose impeachment 

information to physicians. Section 272 of the Second Restatement of Agency, cited in Giglio, provided: ‘In 

accordance with and subject to the rules stated in this Topic, the liability of a principal is affected by the 

knowledge of an agent concerning a matter as to which he acts within his power to bind the principal or upon 

which it is his duty to give the principal information.’ Restatement (Second) of Agency § 272 (1958).  This 

provision was superseded by Section 5.04 of the Third Restatement of Agency, which provides: ‘For purposes 

https://casetext.com/case/napue-v-illinois
https://casetext.com/case/napue-v-illinois
https://casetext.com/case/napue-v-illinois
https://casetext.com/case/napue-v-illinois
https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-agurs#p107
https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-agurs#p2399
https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-agurs
https://casetext.com/case/united-states-v-agurs
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of determining a principal's legal relations with a third party, notice of a fact that an agent knows or has reason 

to know is imputed to the principal if knowledge of the fact is material to the agent's duties to the principal, 

unless the agent (a) acts adversely to the principal as stated in § 5.04, or (b) is subject to a duty to another not to 

disclose the fact to the principal’. Restatement (Third) of Agency § 5.03 (2006).  

In McVeigh, the district court explained: ‘The lawyers appearing on behalf of the United States, speaking for 

the entire government, must inform themselves about everything that is known in all of the archives and all of 

the data banks of all of the agencies collecting information which could assist in the construction of alternative 

scenarios to that which they intend to prove at trial. That is their burden under Brady’. McVeigh, 954 F. Supp. at 

1450. See also United States v. Jordan, 316 F.3d 1215, 1249 (11th Cir. 2003) (recognizing that Federal Rule of 

Criminal Procedure 16 treats material in the hands of an investigative agency “closely connected to the 

prosecutor” as within the government’s custody and control); United States v. Bryan, 868 F.2d 1032, 1036 (9th 

Cir. 1989) (declining either to limit obligation to material within the particular federal district or to extend the 

obligation to material in the possession of any federal agency, but holding that “prosecutor will be deemed to 

have knowledge of and access to anything in the possession, custody or control of any federal agency 

participating in the same investigation of the defendant”).  

Intervenor Adelglass represents to this Court that an incomplete response to a specific request not only 

deprives criminal defendant Adelglass of certain evidence, but also has the effect of representing to criminal 

defendant Adelglass that the evidence does not exist, and that reliance on a misleading representation, criminal 

defendant Adelglass might abandon lines of independent investigation, defenses, or trial strategies 

that Intervenor Adelglass otherwise would have pursued.   

There is a paucity of FOIA information concerning the reliability and validity testing reports of Defendants 

criminal forensic computerized data analytic tools as used against physicians in criminal trials. The presumptive 

intent testimony produced by the computer data analytics algorithms to sway juries upon information and belief 

are in clear conflict with Fed. R. Evid. 704(b). Daubert v. Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 

579;  113 S. Ct. 2786; 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993), where a district court's task in assessing evidence proffered 

under Rule 702 is to determine whether the evidence “both rests on a reliable foundation and is relevant to the 

task at hand.” Id. at 597.  

  The Defendant’s creation of presumptive intent testimony, without support from objective standards of 

medical care as adopted by the medical community, subjects criminally indicted physicians to judgment for a 

programmed artificial intelligences’ own personal standard, an approach specifically rejected in General Elec. 

Co. v. Joiner.  The FOIA requests will allow Intervenor Adelglass to determine if the presumptive intent 

testimony created by Defendants’ computer algorithms are misleading juries or violating due process. In 
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Alcorta v. Texas, the Court recognized that the prosecution’s failure to correct misleading or false testimony 

violated the defendant’s right to due process. Bagley, 473 U.S. at 679 n.9.    

Courts have also recognized that in false or misleading testimony cases, that even if the criminal defendant 

knows or could discover that the testimony is false, the criminal defendant cannot defend against prosecution-

endorsed falsity. See also Drake v. Portuondo, 553 F.3d 230, 240 (2d Cir. 2009) (stating that “a conviction 

obtained through testimony the prosecutor knows to be false is repugnant to the Constitution . . . because, in 

order to reduce the danger of false convictions, we rely on the prosecutor not to be simply a party in litigation 

whose sole object is the conviction of the defendant before him,” and further stating that “[t]he prosecutor is an 

officer of the court whose duty is to present a forceful and truthful case to the jury, not to win at any cost").   

Hayes v. Brown, 399 F.3d 972, 978 (9th Cir. 2005) (en banc) (noting that “[t]he Supreme Court has long 

emphasized ‘the special role played by the American prosecutor in the search for truth in criminal trials’” 

(quoting Strickler v. Green, 527 U.S. 263, 281 (1999)) and that “a conviction obtained through use of false 

evidence, known to be such by representatives of the State, must fall under the Fourteenth Amendment”) See 

Agurs, 427 U.S. at 107-08 (acknowledging that the question of disclosure arises before and during trial as well 

as after trial, but that the standard of materiality, which requires a review of the evidence in the context of the 

entire trial, must logically apply at all times). See also United States v. Tierney, 947 F.2d 854, 860-61 (8th Cir. 

1991) (stating that due process is violated if the government uses perjured testimony “knowingly, recklessly, or 

negligently”).  

LEGAL STANDARD OF REVIEW  

Rule 24 allows intervention under two standards: intervention of right and permissive intervention. Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 24(a),(b). Intervention of right is permitted for a party that files a timely motion and claims an interest 

in the pending litigation “and is so situated that disposing of the action may as a practical matter impair or 

impede the movant’s ability to protect its interest, unless existing parties adequately represent that interest.” 

Fed. R. Civ. P. 24(a)(2). Under this provision, putative intervenors must satisfy four criteria: 1) the application 

to intervene must be timely, 2) the party must have an interest relating to the property or transaction which is 

the subject of the action, 3) the party must be so situated that the disposition of the action may, as a practical 

matter, impair or impede the party’s ability to protect that interest, and 4) the party’s interest must not be 

adequately represented by existing parties to the action. Defenders of Wildlife v. Perciasepe, 714 F.3d 1317, 

1322–23 (D.C. Cir. 2013).   Intervenor Adelglass meets the four-factor test for intervention of right.  He can 

establish: “1) timeliness of the application to intervene; 2) a legally protected interest; 3) that the action, as a 

practical matter, impairs or impedes that interest; and 4) that no party to the action can adequately represent 

[their] potential . . . interest.” Crossroads Grassroots Pol’y Strategies v. FEC, 788 F.3d 312, 320 (D.C. Cir. 

2015) (citing Deutsche Bank Nat’l Trust Co. v. FDIC, 717 F.3d 189, 192 (D.C. Cir. 2013)).  



11 
 

 

Introduction  

On March 1, 2022, for the first time since Moore v. United States (1975) the United States Supreme 

Court held oral arguments in Ruan and Khan v. United States (Case 20-1410).  The Supreme Court Justices 

sided with the physicians, unanimously in a 9-0 decision stating “Once a defendant meets the burden of 

producing evidence that his or her conduct was ‘authorized’ the Government must prove beyond a reasonable 

doubt that the defendant knowingly or intentionally acted in an unauthorized manner,” and “the presumption of 

scienter applies...A strong scienter requirement helps reduce the risk of “overdeterrence”, i.e., punishing 

conduct that lies close to, but on the permissible side of, the criminal line.” Further, “The court today concludes 

that 841’s mens rea applies to the “except as authorized” clause, which serves to separate a defendant’s 

wrongful from proper conduct.”   

The U.S. Executive Branch through published public documents, also previously submitted as Exhibits by 

Plaintiffs and other Intervenors, describes the use of statistical algorithms and other “pre-crime” data analytic, 

criminal forensic tools to presume 1) actual knowledge, or 2) knowledge of being highly certain, of diversion, 

health care fraud or other criminal acts. Under United States v Staples, 511 U.S 600 (1994) knowledge is the 

mens rea requirement for the violation.  The U.S. Department of Justice also, through the Defendants, converts 

or manipulates primary evidence to manufacture demonstrative testimonial evidence in order to manufacture 

probable cause in supportive affidavits of search warrants, as well as coordinate the criminal convictions of 

selective physicians, pharmacists and other healthcare providers nationwide in a targeted and discriminatory 

fashion, as evidenced by the extensive “Schindler’s type list” of prosecuted Jewish physicians that Dr. 

Adelglass has in his possession (see Appendix A and B).    

The Defendants also partnered with the public-private healthcare cartel called Healthcare Fraud and 

Prevention Partnership (HFPP) and General Dynamics Information Technology (GDIT) Trusted Third Party 

(TTP) allow a present day, Nazi nightmare, where these health insurance companies view their human clients as 

“milk cows” on “their plantation”, branded with their “Blue Cross Blue Shield” insurance logos and member 

identity cards, paying a contracted health care provider a modest amount of money to keep their “members” 

healthy enough for a continuous milking stream of insurance premium payments until their human clients 

become too sick, old and costly, relegated to become “beef cows” and consequently denied further expensive, 

innovative, and experimental health care treatments, again, in a discriminatory manner.    

Intervenor Adelglass seeks information pursuant to The Freedom of Information Act, to obtain documents 

pertaining to the continuous dangerous shift in the balance of power over medical decision making away from 

physicians to large risk underwriting insurance companies, who have no significant comprehension or 

experience in practicing medicine, have no vested interest in experimental medical advancement, and whose 
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primary measure of success is economic profits.  Thus, it was foreseeable that Defendants actions against 

physicians nationwide, for example through the “Pill Mill Doctor Project”, would give rise to mass tort 

litigation. The practice of medicine hangs in the balance because prescribers who are experts in prescribing 

controlled substances will be fearful of prescribing due to disagreements with Defendants DEA and HHS, 

pertaining to medical decisions which constantly change over time and for which no definitive medical standard 

exists, due to continuous scientific and technological advancement.  Physicians are contracted with Defendants 

and their HFPP partners to treat a “risk adverse” population of chronic pain or substance abuse disorder 

patients, as well as practice medicine in a religious-neutral manner, without facing intentional or reckless 

permanent foreclosure of Intervenor Adelglass’s ability to practice medicine by the Defendants.    

Based on information obtained from published US government documents (already presented as Exhibits 

within this FOIA litigation), the US Attorneys Office (USAO) is now utilizing a variety of criminal forensic 

tools, red flags and other indicators of drug diversion to litigate the full spectrum of drug diversion and/or health 

care fraud matters, both independently and in partnership with USDOJ Civil and Criminal Divisions. The 

USDOJ and USAO also uses information from the “Pill Mill Doctor Project” which has vital information in its 

computerized databases of the “most likely drug seeking patients” as well as identified “bad actor” physicians, 

which Dr. Adelglass believes are based on discriminatory data collection algorithms. The Defendants through 

the USDOJ using the discriminatory data then uniformly alleges against physicians that: 1.  The doctor tricked 

the patients into taking opioids they do not need, 2.  The patients got addicted, 3.  Treating the addiction costs 

the Government money, 4.  Therefore the treatment was fraudulent.  

USAOs coordinate closely both internally, with AUSAs developing parallel cases with their civil or 

criminal colleagues, and with other USAOs, collaborating on investigations that sprawl across district borders. 

Since 2018, the USAOs for ten federal districts in six states have joined the Health Care Fraud (HCF) Unit in 

the Criminal Division’s Fraud Section (HCF Unit), as well as law enforcement partners at the FBI, HHS-OIG 

and DEA to effectively and efficiently prosecute medical professionals and others involved in the alleged illegal 

prescription and distribution of opioids.  

The Consumer Protection Branch is advancing a number of U.S. Executive Branch Department 

priorities to combat the nation’s opioid crisis, pursuing wrongdoers throughout the entire opioid distribution 

chain, including pharmaceutical manufacturers, wholesale distributers, pharmacies, and health care providers, 

even though over 80% of drug overdose deaths are due to illicit drugs crossing our borders, primarily variations 

of fentanyl. The Consumer Protection Branch is a leading member of the U.S. Executive Branch Department’s 

Prescription Interdiction and Litigation (PIL) Task Force established in February 2018 to combat the opioid 

crisis at every level of the distribution system, excluding the primary source of the Drug Cartels. The Consumer 

Protection Branch is actively working on numerous criminal and civil investigations and litigation related to 
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opioid manufacturers, while the DEA refuses to address the illicit drug problem in our communities. Using a 

variety of data sets and advanced analytics, the Consumer Protection Branch is advancing an effort to take all 

appropriate action against pharmacies, physicians, and health care providers they wrongly believe are fueling 

the diversion of prescription opioids. The Consumer Protection Branch has brought a number of civil injunctive 

and penalty actions under the Controlled Substance Act to stop dangerous dispensing and prescribing conduct in 

advance of potential criminal prosecutions at the expense of legitimate patients who need opioid treatment for 

both function and quality of life.  

Since 2007, the HCF Unit has deployed data analytics combined with investigative intelligence. In 2018, 

the HCF Unit formed its own in-house data team, which now consists of eight analysts with deep experience in 

Medicare and Medicaid data analysis, as well as financial analysis, who identify what they believe is egregious 

health care fraud and prescription opioid-related targets to ensure the HCF Unit and its partners believe 

they efficiently identify the worst offenders, even if they are erroneously identifying physicians with busy but 

appropriate practices. The team uses data to identify billing patterns, what they have defined as suspicious 

prescribing practices, and curious relationships between doctors and patients that they believe signify high-risk 

targets. The investigations are then prosecuted by HCF Unit prosecutors or referred to USAOs and law 

enforcement partners in a “targeting package,” which includes data summaries and descriptions of why a pattern 

is suspect, such as submission of claims for dead beneficiaries, beneficiaries who live a great distance from the 

clinic they purportedly regularly attended in person, etc.  

In April 2018, Centers for Medicare & Medicaid Services (CMS) issued a final rule that requires plan 

sponsors to deny payments provided by individuals and entities on a preclusion list, rather than requiring the 

enrollment of providers. The preclusion list will include individuals or entities that (1) are revoked from 

Medicare, under a reenrollment bar, and the conduct that led to the revocation is detrimental to the best 

interests of Medicare or (2) have engaged in behavior for which they could have been revoked had they been 

enrolled in Medicare and the conduct that would have led to the revocation is detrimental to the best interests of 

Medicare.  Furthermore, according to statutes Title 42 Chapter IV Subchapter B Part 411 § 411.15 Particular 

services excluded from coverage. The following services are excluded from coverage: (a) Routine physical 

checkups such as:  (1) Examinations performed for a purpose other than treatment or diagnosis of a specific 

illness, symptoms, complaint, or injury 

 

Necessity For Intervention By Right  

Intervenor Adelglass seeks from Defendants, information produced for the USDOJ, Office of Solicitor 

General and/or Deputy Solicitor General Eric J. Feigin for Khan and Ruan Vs. United States Case No. 20-1410 

and Case No. 21-5261 as requested in Intervenor Adelglass’s extensive FOIA Requests to Defendants and OIP.  
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Concise Biography  

Dr. Adelglass, a Jewish American physician, has spent the last 30+ years as a Pain Management 

Specialist, treating those whose conditions were no longer manageable by general practitioners and are often 

seen as a patient’s last resort.  Dr. Adelglass trained at NYU/ Rusk Institute of Rehabilitation from 1980-1984, 

worked with Hans Kraus the father of sports medicine and personal physician to JFK.  Dr. Adelglass was the 

first fellow at The Hospital For Joint Diseases/ Orthopedic Institute a N.Y.U. affiliate hospital in Pain 

Management (one of the first inpatient multidisciplinary pain programs in the country) from 1985-1986.   

On November 18, 2020, Dr. Adelglass was taken out of his home of nearly 20 years in hand cuffs, 

escorted by approximately half a dozen FBI agents, a public spectacle in front of my neighbors and family 

members. Dr. Adelglass was dragged in and out of numerous buildings in the cold, without even a jacket and 

his pants fell down at least three times while out on the street... humiliated -- with minimal assistance from the 

officers.  Once detained, Dr. Adelglass slept on a hard wooden bench in a police station in Long Island. When 

Dr. Adelglass was finally released, he could not see out of his left eye.  He had suffered a detached left retina 

during incarceration, likely due to stress and the conditions under which he was in duress. Subsequently, he had 

to have surgery a few days later to repair the retinal detachment in order to regain his eyesight.  Dr. Adelglass 

and numerous other physicians throughout the United States were arrested in single day mass operations in 

Operation Pill Nation, Operation Snake Oil, Operation Oxy Alley, Operation Juice Doctor, Operation Wasted 

Daze etc. in operations comparable to the Nazi, Operation Kristallnacht, or the Night of Broken Glass against 

many Jewish physicians. 

Dr. Adelglass was accused of a Narco-Conspiracy. The medical board refused to wait until after his 

surgery to meet and forced him to surrender his medical license.  Since that day, Dr. Adelglass has not been 

allowed to work as a physician, his life’s calling.  Many of Dr. Adelglass’ patients have had to be hospitalized 

due to the abrupt withdrawal of opioids and their inability to find a pain specialist that could treat them, 

especially during Covid. These patients remain in chronic pain and are still suffering to this day.  At least 5 of 

them have died since Dr. Adelglass was unable to practice medicine.  Upon information and belief the patients 

deaths were all related to them not receiving their monthly pain medication. (I.e. withdrawal with cardiac 

consequences, buying fake pills on the street spiked with fentanyl, and suicide) 

There have been many false and derogatory things written about Dr. Adelglass in the media.  Since Dr. 

Adelglass arrest, he has had no income to support his family because while practicing, many of his patients paid 

nothing.  He ran the out-patient pain program at the Hospital for Joint Diseases for 15 years, treating indigent 

patients. Some of these patients continued to see him for injections and treatments after he left the clinic and 

these patients paid only what they could afford. 
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Dr. Adelglass took a job at UNITE, the woman’s garment center union (The first female union in 

America, started in reaction to the Triangle Building fire) and then Columbus Center for Medical Rehabilitation 

in the Bronx (a CORF- comprehensive outpatient rehabilitation facility) that accepted a wide variety of 

insurances, so that he would not be abandoning his patients.  Since his fellowship, Dr. Adelglass has been 

involved in numerous medical activities. Dr. Adelglass was a doctor for CBS at the 1991 Olympics in 

Albertville and the following Para-Olympics in Lillehammer, Norway. Dr. Adelglass did a show for CBS as to 

the different events the disabled athletes were competing in, how they trained and their risks of injury.  Dr. 

Adelglass has published numerous research articles and has lectured extensively on pain treatment.  He did 

extensive clinical trial research for many pharmaceutical companies.  This included many research studies on 

most of the opioids currently in use.  From 1982–1985, he also worked as a part time physician at Rikers Island 

correctional facility. Dr. Adelglass was a part time physician at N.Y.U. student health service. From 1985-1991, 

Dr. Adelglass worked for the Long Island Railroad (LIRR), examining injured workers and helped set up a 

work hardening program and was part of the first federal drug screening program in the U.S. at the LIRR. In 

1986, Dr Adelglass was the medical director of the LIRR and saw Suffolk County police as well as railroad 

workers as patients.  Dr. Adelglass then was the rehabilitation medicine director at JFK Airport as part of 

Catholic Medical Centers Department of Occupational Medicine. At the airport he helped take care of airport 

workers injuries including baggage handlers, flight attendants, TSA, Customs, airport police and FBI.  Dr. 

Adelglass was also the rehabilitation director of a number of nursing homes. While he was at JFK Airport 

Medical center he helped set up a drug interdiction mobile unit, that was honored by Interpol, that housed 

suspected drug mules until they passed their ingested, contraband drugs.  Dr. Adelglass was the head of 

Rehabilitation Medicine at Catholic Medical Centers of Brooklyn and Queens which includes St. John’s, St. 

Joseph, St. Mary’s and Mary Immaculate hospitals.  Dr. Adelglass was the medical director of Terrance 

Cardinal Cookes mentally retarded and developmentally disabled outpatient clinics throughout New York State.  

He ran the outpatient pain program at the Hospital for Joint Disease for 13 years and had a faculty appointment 

at N.Y.U.  Since Dr. Adelglass’ arrest he has had retina surgery, and also been hospitalized four times, with 

renal failure, a collapsed lung, pneumonia, COVID, bladder dysfunction, atrial fibrillation, a lung biopsy, 

vertigo, and a prostatectomy all which he contributes directly to the failure of a swift hearing to establish his 

innocence and the stress it caused. 

Recently, Dr. Adelglass has become aware that our government has been targeting groups of physicians 

in a very nefarious manor, similar to the way the Nazi’s did.  Dr. Adelglass has seen preliminary data that 

indicate out of approximately 6000 pain management physicians more than 1700 of them have been arrested 

and a high percentage of them have been forced to take fraudulent plea deals as they were facing very long 

prison sentences.  Dr. Adelglass has read a federal memo suggesting the targeting of physicians over 60 years 
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old because they exhibited the 4 D’s (dated, easily duped, dishonest, disabled from decision making)(Exhibit 4).  

Dr. Adelglass has been told by 2 pharmacists that the DEA asked them for a list of doctors over 60 years old 

that prescribed opioids. Of the arrested doctors approximately 50% were Black, Asians, Hispanic, minority 

nation of origin and foreign medical graduates.  Between 20%-50% of targeted white physicians are Jewish (see 

Appendix A and B).  Dr. Adelglass practice consisted of a high percentage of minority patients and patients that 

couldn’t find another doctor to treat their pain because they were indigent and often had no insurance. 

Dr. Adelglass is Jewish which is significant.  A list of indicted, prosecuted and incarcerated white 

doctors are approximately 20% Jewish (Appendix A). As Jews are only 1.5% of the population in America, this 

is a statistical abnormality because more education and older age predisposes a person to less crime and not 

more crime.  Since his arrest, Howard has become actively involved in changing legislation to restore the rights 

of patients to not live with the torture of uncontrolled pain and interfere with well-intended physicians such as 

himself.  Dr. Adelglass argues that the policies by the Defendants are discriminatory and interfere with the 

professional judgment of medical providers in ways that disparately impact the disabled. See PGA Tour v. 

Martin, 532 U.S. 661, 683 n.38 (2001) and Beradelli v. Allied Serv. Inst. of Rehab. Med., 900 F.3d 104, 115 (3d 

Cir.2018)) and 144 (1st Cir. 2014) Driscoll v. Bryant University, 393 F.Supp.3d 153, 159.  Defendant’s policies 

have nationwide caused widespread refusal of healthcare providers “to affirmatively accommodate [the disabled 

person’s] disability where such accommodation was needed to provide ‘meaningful access to a public service.’”   

Nunes, 766 F.3d at 145 (citing Henrietta D. v. Bloomberg, 331 F.3d 261, 273-76 (2d Cir. 2003))    

Defendants’ policies cause disparate treatment, premised on proxy-discrimination; cause disparate 

impact, under the meaningful access standard; and fail to allow trained healthcare providers to make a 

reasonable accommodation by inducing a chilling effect. see Alexander v. Choate ; Cf. CVS v. Doe, 982 F.3d at 

1210. Defendants’ conduct and policies constitutes unlawful discrimination against the disabled in violation of 

Title III 42 U.S.C. § 12182(b)(2)(A)(ii) of the Americans with Disabilities Act (“ADA”), 42 U.S.C. § 12182(a); 

Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act, 29 U.S.C. § 794(a); and the anti-discrimination provisions of the 

Affordable Care Act (“ACA”), 42 U.S.C. § 18116(a). see Nunes v. Massachusetts Dept. of Correction, 766 F.3d 

136.  

 

Howard Adelglass Identifies Wide Spread Prosecutorial Misconduct Against Physicians  

Defendants computerized, criminal forensic, mathematical algorithms intend to instruct the jury on an 

improper legal standard and draw legal conclusions from that improper standard. Testimony generated by a 

computer program will be confusing to the trier of fact, unduly prejudicial, and not probative of any material 

fact at issue.  It is impermissible to have a computer program testify to seek a criminal defendant’s intent.  Fed. 

R. Evid. 704 permits an expert to testify to the ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact. However, Fed. R. 
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Evid. 704(a) prohibits “the expert from stating an opinion or inference about whether the defendant did nor did 

not have the mental state or condition constituting an element of the crime charged or of a defense thereto.” 

Fed. R. Evid. 704(b).  

Defendants computer, “pre-crime”, algorithms attempt to substitute the expertise of members of the 

physician community, including substitute for the expertise of medical practitioners of the field of the human 

mind, including but not limited to psychiatrists and neurologists.  There are no published scientific explanations 

or validity reports describing how the Defendants’ computer algorithms endeavor to determine a physicians’ 

quality of patient care or testify regarding the contents of a physician’s mind without having seen the 

physician’s patients or speaking with physician.  Presumptive intent testimony produced by the computer 

algorithms are in clear conflict with Fed. R. Evid. 704(b) and should be excluded. According to Daubert v. 

Merrell Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 579;  113 S. Ct. 2786; 125 L. Ed. 2d 469 (1993), a district court's 

task in assessing evidence proffered under Rule 702 is to determine whether the evidence “both rests on a 

reliable foundation and is relevant to the task at hand.” Id. at 597. The district court must consider "whether the 

reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is scientifically valid.” Id. at 592-93.  

Daubert attempts to strike a balance between a liberal admissibility standard for relevant evidence on the 

one hand and the need to exclude misleading “junk science” on the other. See Amorgianos v. Nat'l R.R. 

Passenger Corp., 303 F.3d 256, 267 (2d Cir. 2002). Although there is no “definitive checklist or test” for 

striking this balance, the Supreme Court in Daubert set forth a number of factors that typically “bear on the 

inquiry.” 509 U.S. at 593. These include whether the theory or technique in question “can be (and has been) 

tested,” whether it “has been subjected to peer review and publication,” whether it has a “known or potential 

rate of error," and finally, whether the theory or technique enjoys general acceptance in the relevant scientific 

community. Id. at 594.   

The Rule 702 inquiry is “a flexible one,” and “[t]he focus ... must be solely on principles and 

methodology, not on the conclusions they generate.” Id. at 594-95. An expert who presents testimony must 

“employ[] in the courtroom the same level of intellectual rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the 

relevant field.”  Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 137, 152; 119 S. Ct. 1167; 143 L. Ed. 2d 238 (1999). 

See also Best v. Lowe's Home Ctrs., Inc., 563 F.3d 171, 177 (6th Cir. 2009)  

The Defendants’ artificial intelligence programs offers its own inaccurate legal standards based on 

application of medical practice guidelines as developed by the Defendants which are not subject to peer 

review.  The artificial intelligence’s own medical standards are derived from its programming.  Nothing in 

either Daubert or the Federal Rules of Evidence requires a district court to admit opinion evidence that is 

created and analyzed by the ipse dixit of the artificial intelligence or the ipse dixit of the computer programmers 

of the artificial intelligence which are the Defendants. General Elec. Co. v. Joiner, 522 U.S. 136, 146 (1997).  
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There are no published scientific validity or reliability testing documents concerning the artificial 

intelligence use of any objective criteria for analyzing proper physician prescribing and thus the final input of 

the computer algorithm simply opines on what the computer program believes is appropriate. Such presumptive 

intent testimony, without support from objective standards of medical care adopted by the medical community, 

subjects criminally indicted physicians to judgment for the artificial intelligences’ own personal standard, an 

approach specifically rejected in General Elec. Co. v. Joiner.   

Objective medical standards exist to guide a physician's conduct, but the Defendants artificial 

intelligence programs fail to articulate a standard for “legitimate” medical practice and fails to tie its opinions to 

violations of specific standards applicable to physicians in the field of medicine.  Presumptive Intent testimony 

generated by an untested, unverified and unreliable artificial intelligence should be excluded under Fed. R. 

Evid. 702. The Federal Rules of Evidence require a trial judge to ensure that expert testimony admitted is not 

only relevant but reliable and is likely to promote an accurate finding. Whole Woman's Health v. Hellerstedt, 

136 S. Ct. 2292, 2317 (2016); see Madej v. Maiden, 951 F.3d 364, 369 (6th Cir. 2020).   

Again, an expert who presents testimony must “employ[] in the courtroom the same level of intellectual 

rigor that characterizes the practice of an expert in the relevant field.” Kumho Tire Co. v. Carmichael, 526 U.S. 

137, 152; 119 S. Ct. 1167; 143 L. Ed. 2d 238 (1999). See also Best v. Lowe's Home Ctrs., Inc., 563 F.3d 171, 

177 (6th Cir. 2009). A trial judge must determine at the outset, whether the expert is proposing to testify to 1) 

scientific knowledge that 2) will assist the trier of fact to understand or determine a fact at issue. This entails a 

preliminary assessment of whether the reasoning or methodology underlying the testimony is sufficiently valid 

and of whether that reasoning or methodology properly can be applied to the facts at issue. Daubert v. Merrell 

Dow Pharmaceuticals, Inc., 509 U.S. 597, 589 (1993).   

The task for the district court in deciding whether an expert's opinion is reliable is not to determine 

whether it is correct, but rather to determine whether its rests upon a reliable foundation, as opposed to, say, 

unsupported speculation. In Re Scrap Metal Antitrust Litig., 527 F.3d 517, 529 (6th Cir. 2008). “The trial court's 

gatekeeping function requires more than simply taking the expert's word for it. [A court being] presented with 

only the experts' qualifications, their conclusions and their assurances of reliability [is not enough under 

Daubert].” Thomas v. City of Chattanooga, 398 F.3d 426, 432 (6th Cir. 2005). Rule 702 also specifically 

provides that an expert opinion must be based on “sufficient facts or data.” Fed. R. Evid. 702.  

An expert's opinion that is not based off sufficient data and instead is based on speculation is not 

admissible, because the courtroom is not the place for scientific guesswork, even of the inspired sort.” Tamraz 

v. Lincoln Elec. Co., 620 F.3d 665, 670-672 (6th Cir. 2010). The Defendants’ artificial intelligence does not 

possess the intellectual rigor required by Kumho and fail to satisfy the standard under Fed. R. Evid. 

702.  Defendants’ computer algorithms cannot measure or determine scienter; there are no published documents 
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verifying the validity and reliability of an artificial intelligence’s measure of a human mind’s scienter.  “We 

normally characterize this interpretive maxim as a presumption in favor of ‘scienter,’ by which we mean a 

presumption that criminal statutes require the degree of knowledge sufficient to ‘mak[e] a person legally 

responsible for the consequences of his or her act or omission.’” (quoting Black’s Law Dictionary 1547 (10th 

ed. 2014), brackets in decision).  

Defendants’ computer algorithms that are used in medical “decision making”, are unlawful as the 

artificial intelligences have not been tested, evaluated or approved by the Food and Drug Administration (FDA) 

as a Medical Device under Section 3060 of the 21st Century Cures Act which only exempts five categories of 

Clinical Decision Support tools.   Pertaining to software as a Medical Device, the FDA seeks a valid clinical 

association between the software’s output and its targeted clinical condition. The company must show that the 

software processes inputs to generate accurate, reliable output that achieves the intended purpose in the context 

of clinical care for the target population.  

In a criminal proceeding there is unfair prejudice that can arise from the inordinate weight that a jury is 

likely to give to the determinations reached by a government fact-finding body. Defendants’ “pre-crime” 

predictive algorithms conflict with the overriding presumption of innocence with which the law endows the 

accused, and which extends to every element of the crime. Such incriminating presumptions through data 

analysis of “presumptive red flags” as postulated by USDOJ, HHS, DEA experts are not to be improvised by 

the judiciary without U.S. Congressional legislative action.  The scientific and mathematical uncertainty 

surrounding the utilization of Defendants’ determinations via unproven data analytic criminal forensics as 

conclusory evidence to criminally indict or convict physicians, violates the cannons and legal doctrines of 

criminal science.    

Admission of the results of conclusions produced by Defendants data analytics programs that are 

programmed utilizing “secret medical guidelines” into evidence in criminal trials against physicians, risks 

usurping the proper role of the jury as fact finder. Defendants’ computer algorithms are improperly designed to 

produce legal conclusions for the purposes of unduly and improperly influencing a jury in a criminal 

trial.  Ultimately the sole intent of the computer algorithms is to improperly influence the jury to defer to 

Defendants’ conclusions. Defendants’ algorithms unlawfully supplant the jury as a fact finder and are an 

unlawful form of judicial engineering.  Courts of Law and Justice are hesitant to treat as factual findings 

statements in a draft report or mere recommendations directed to a full agency or third party. As explained in 

Hines v. Brandon Steel Decks, Inc. “[c]onclusions are inadmissible because the jury would have no way of 

knowing whether the preparer of the report was cognizant of the requirements underlying the legal conclusion 

and, if not, whether the preparer might have a higher or lower standard than the law requires.” 886 F.2d 299, 

303 (11th Cir. 1989).   
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The data analytics criminal forensic tools of the Defendants include the 1) “speed conviction” algorithm, 

2) “coordinating for conviction” algorithm, and the 3) “strengthening for conviction” algorithm, and imposes a 

national standard of medical care used to sway jury decisions in criminal trials which violates well established 

medical doctrines and criminal legal doctrines.  Again, the presumption in favor of scienter protects vital due 

process interests. “It is common ground that this Court, where possible, interprets congressional enactments so 

as to avoid raising serious constitutional questions.” Cheek v. United States, 498 U.S. 192, 203 (1991). “Of 

course, the more unreasonable the asserted beliefs or misunderstandings are, the more likely the jury will 

consider them to be nothing more than simple disagreement with known legal duties imposed”. Cheek v. United 

States, 498 U.S. 192, 203–04 (1991).  

Furthermore, use of these untested artificial intelligence algorithms by “[T]he Government violates [the 

due process] guarantee by taking away someone's life, liberty, or property under a criminal law so vague that it 

fails to give ordinary people fair notice of the conduct it punishes, or so standardless that it invites arbitrary 

enforcement.” Johnson v. United States, 135 S.Ct. 2551, 2556 (2015). Criminal statutes are supposed to be so 

clear that any normal citizen can tell what actions are proscribed.  There is no objective standard for prescribing 

opioids. To be sure, the concept of fair notice embodied in the void for vagueness doctrine does not require 

actual notice that a defendant’s actions violate the law, but rather “that a defendant have constructive notice that 

his act is criminal; that is, that the defendant could have found out whether his conduct was prohibited by the 

statute.”  “Vague laws contravene the ‘first essential of due process of law’ that statutes must give people of 

‘common intelligence’ fair notice of what the law demands of them.” United States v. Davis, 139 S. Ct. 2319, 

2325 (2019).   

Concealment from the public of the validity and reliability testing of Defendants HHS/DEA, 

computerized, data analytic, mathematical algorithm, criminal forensic tools violate the void-for-vagueness 

doctrine which requires that a penal statute define the criminal offense with sufficient definiteness that ordinary 

people can understand what conduct is prohibited, and in a manner that does not encourage arbitrary and 

discriminatory enforcement.” Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U.S. 352, 357 (1983). Void-for-vagueness “doctrine 

guards against arbitrary or discriminatory law enforcement by insisting that a statute provide standards to 

govern the actions of police officers, prosecutors, juries, and judges.” Sessions v. Dimaya, 138 S. Ct. 1204, 1212 

(2018); United States v. U.S. Gypsum Co., 438 U.S. 422, 442 (1978) (“criminal sanctions would be used, not to 

punish conscious and calculated wrongdoing at odds with statutory proscriptions, but instead simply to regulate 

business practices regardless of the intent with which they were undertaken.”). Criminal statutes without a 

scienter requirement are more likely to be void for vagueness, because under such statutes, criminal defendants 

are more likely to be convicted for simple mistakes. Gonzales v. Carhart, 550 U.S. 124, 149 (2007).  
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Furthermore, “physicians are particularly easily deterred by the threat of governmental investigation 

and/or sanction from engaging in conduct that is entirely lawful and medically appropriate.” Conant v. Walters, 

309 F.3d 629, 640 n.2 (9th Cir. 2002) (Kozinski, J., concurring).  A customized Qlarant program by a 

Department of Justice attorney or prosecuting team to produce manipulated demonstrative evidence for Jury 

Trials in order to quote Qlarant, “Strengthen and Speed a Conviction” could lead to misconduct during the 

exercising of prosecutorial authority requiring subsequent misconduct investigations by the U.S. Office of 

Professional Responsibility and/or the U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigation Inspection Division.  

For pecuniary and market share gains, Intervenor Adelglass has identified that private health insurers 

have intertwined in traditional law enforcement functions by providing “state” agents for the federal agencies, 

Health and Human Services and Drug Enforcement Administration, under a public and private partnership, 

namely, Healthcare Fraud Preventive Partnership (HFPP).  As private companies, the private insurers are acting 

as state actors without the substantive and procedural constitutional safeguard by establishing arbitrary and 

capricious: 1) evaluation and management (E&M) codes, 2) data mining without means of correcting errors, 3) 

establishing the elements of a “Pill Mill” despite complete field preemption under the Controlled Substance Act 

(CSA 802 (56)(c)). The HFPP private insurers have a history of a violation of Sections 1, 2 and 3 of the 

Sherman Antitrust Act because through HFPP they engineered the decreased competition between and among 

the large private healthcare insurance companies in health insurance markets by: “(1) allocating geographic 

territories; and (2) limiting competition against each other.  The US Supreme Court concluded that the state 

actors/ agencies were liable to antitrust claims stating that “Limits on state-action immunity are most essential 

when the State, seeks to delegate its regulatory power to active market participants, for established ethical 

standards may blend with private anticompetitive motives in a way difficult even for market participants to 

discern.  Dual allegiances are not always apparent to an actor. In consequence active market participants cannot 

be allowed to regulate their own markets free from antitrust accountability.” See Midcal. Supra At 106, 100 

S.Ct. 937. Prohibitions against anticompetitive self-regulation by active market participants are an axiom of 

federal antitrust policy. See Allied Tube and Conduit Corp V. Indian Head Inc.   

Furthermore, HFPP’s ability to create custom evidence for a U.S. Prosecutor after the U.S. Prosecutor 

has identified a “bad actor" in a “tell me the man and I will show you the crime” process may incentivize HFPP 

private insurers to produce false or misleading evidence. A bedrock principle of our democracy is that the State 

may not use false evidence to obtain a criminal conviction. See Hayes v Brown, Napue v. Illinois. It is well 

settled that the presentation of false evidence violates due process. Napue v. Illinois, 360 U.S. 264, 269 

(1959)(“[A] state may not use false evidence, including false testimony, to obtain a tainted conviction. . .”); 

United States v. LaPage, 231 F.3d 488 (9th Cir. 2000)(“The due process clause entitles defendants in criminal 

cases to fundamentally fair procedures. It is fundamentally unfair for a prosecutor to knowingly present perjury 
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to the jury.”). The fundamental unfairness of a conviction obtained through the use of false evidence has long 

been recognized by the Supreme Court. Mooney v. Holohan, 294 U.S. 103 (1935); Pyle v. Kansas, 317 U.S. 213 

(1942); Napue, supra. Exculpatory evidence, even if it is only impeachment evidence must be disclosed whether 

it goes to the issue of guilt or punishment. A conviction achieved through the use of false or misleading 

evidence violates due process because if the evidence is false, the false evidence would be material to probable 

cause as well as a grand jury indictment and could convert “U.S. Prosecutors” pursuing “cookie cutter 

prosecutions” into “U.S. Persecutors” undermining confidence of U.S. Courts of Law. United States v. Zuno- 

Arce.   

Where the DEA and the HHS-OIG/CMS possesses information about the HFPP private insurer 

companies and is able to, but chooses not to, disclose potentially exculpatory evidence to prosecuted physicians 

or physicians in response to a “Brady request” constitutes a Brady violation. (Brady v. Maryland, 373 U.S. 83 

(more) 83 S. Ct. 1194; 10 L. Ed. 2d 215; 1963 U.S. LEXIS 1615).  

In Linder v. U. S., "Direct control of medical practice in the states is beyond the power of the Federal 

government. Congress therefore, cannot directly restrict the professional judgment of the physician or interfere 

with its free exercise in the treatment of disease. Federal power is delegated, and its prescribed limits must not 

be transcended even though the end seems desirable." And in Dr. Adelglass’ case, the end is simply an abuse of 

Federal power in their attempt to stop even the legitimate treatment of pain in this country. In Hayman v. 

Galveston, "the right of a duly licensed physician to practice her profession is liberty and property within the 

meaning of the 14th Amendment to the Constitution." Without a DEA registration and with a federally forced 

suspension of a medical license, a physician cannot be approved by insurance companies, cannot work for the 

Veterans Administration, medical facilities on Indian reservations, cruise ships, or even volunteer organizations 

like Doctors Without Borders. According to Minnesota ex rel Whipple v. Martinson, "the statute exceeds the 

authority of the state in the exertion of its police power, in that it undertakes to regulate a lawful business in the 

manner prescribed in the statute, in violation of the 14th Constitutional Amendment. By forcing the suspension 

of the medical license of Intervenor Adelglass, the Federal government prevented him from practicing 

medicine, therefore violating Intervenor Adelglass’ 5th and 14th Constitutional Amendment rights.  

          The structure and operation of the CSA presumes and relies upon a functioning medical profession 

regulated under the state's police powers. The very definition of a "practitioner" eligible to prescribe includes 

physicians licensed in the jurisdiction in which he or she practices. Further cautioning against the conclusion 

that the CSA effectively displaces the state's general regulation of medical practice is the Act's pre-emption 

provision, which indicates that, absent a positive conflict, none of the Act's provisions should be "construed as 

indicating an intent on the part of the Congress to occupy the field in which that provision operates...to the 

exclusion of any state law on the same subject matter which would otherwise be within the authority of the 
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state." The CSA's substantive provisions and their arrangement undermine the assertion of an expansive federal 

authority to regulate medicine.  The recent decision by the Supreme Court regarding Doctors Ruan and Kahn 

certainly support this ideology by limiting prosecution of physicians to those engaged in criminal activity and 

not those who are well-intended.    

     In Linder v. U.S., (1) Congress cannot, under the pretext of executing delegated powers, pass laws for the 

accomplishment of objects not entrusted to the Federal government.  (2) Any provision of an act of Congress 

solely to the achievement of something plainly within the power reserved to the states, is invalid and cannot be 

enforced. "Obviously, direct control of medical practice in the states is beyond the power of the Federal 

government." Yet the Defendants in concert with USDOJ in United States v. Adelglass did exactly that.  The 

law does not undertake to prescribe methods for medical treatment. "We cannot possibly conclude that a 

physician acted improperly or unwisely or for other than medical purposes solely because he has dispensed..., in 

the ordinary course and in good faith.  What constitutes bona fide medical practice must be determined upon 

consideration of evidence and attending circumstances.”  In U.S. v. Doremus, Congress may not in the exercise 

of Federal power exert authority wholly reserved to the states."  

Citizens look to the government to provide security and safety without impinging on democratic values. 

Against Dr. Adelglass in this case, acts of the government or its prosecuting agents have violated the consensus 

and exceeded the limit of what a free society will tolerate.  In Sorrells v. U.S., the criminal acts were a "creature 

of the agent's purpose". The Court called the action a gross abuse of authority. Chief Justice Hughes concluded 

that to provide the opportunity to commit the crime is beyond reproach.  The government may not incite or 

create crime for the purpose of punishing it. "It is unconscionable, contrary to public policy, and to the 

established law of the land to punish a man for the commission of an offence of the like of which he had never 

been guilty of if the officers of the law had not inspired, incited, persuaded, and lured him to attempt to commit 

it." If the acts of the prosecutor offend the tribunal, the defendant may not be prosecuted. The Courts must be 

closed to the trial of a crime instigated by the government's own agents. No other issue, no comparison of the 

equities as between the guilty official and the guilty defendant has any place in the enforcement of this 

overruling principle of public policy.    

      Further abuse of Federal power is evident in the use of Interpretive Rule declaring standard medical practice 

as "outside the course of professional practice" in the courtroom which has to be stopped. By using Interpretive 

Rule this way, the Attorney General claims extraordinary authority. His power would include the greater power 

to criminalize even the actions of registered physicians whenever they engage in conduct he deems 

illegitimate.  It would be anomalous for Congress to have so painstakingly described the Attorney General's 

limited authority to deregister a single physician but to have given him, just by implication, authority to declare 



24 
 

an entire class of activity outside "the course of professional practice", and therefore a criminal violation of the 

CSA.    

The Defendants’ base prosecution on confiscating physician income and assets. In Jin Fuey Moy v. U.S., 

"manifestly the phrases 'to a patient' and 'in the course of his professional practice only' are intended to confine 

the immunity of a registered physician in dispensing narcotic drugs strictly within the appropriate bounds of 

professional practice, and not to extend it to include a sale to a dealer or a distribution intended to cater to the 

craving of an addict."  The federal government via USDOJ/HHS/DEA are clearly overstepping their bounds by 

irrationally indicting well-intended physicians who are dispensing narcotic prescriptions strictly within the 

bounds of professional practice.  I have a list of over 1700 health care practitioners who have been prosecuted 

by the DEA/HHS/USDOJ since the CSA was passed, most of them after the year 1990, with the highest 

percentage after 2012 and still climbing (also see Appendix A and B of persecuted Jewish doctors). 

      In Sherman v. U.S., the Federal Courts have an "obligation to set their face against enforcement of the law 

by lawless means or means that violate rationally vindicated standards of justice." At stake is the integrity of the 

process. It is the responsibility of the Court to protect our citizenry from such prostitution of the law. To do 

otherwise would undermine the Court's standing as administrators of justice. If the acts of the authorities are so 

reprehensible, the problem transcends the individual defendant. The Courts would become corrupted by a 

process that is the fruit of corrupt government methodology, certainly occurring as evidenced by my list of over 

175, prosecuted, Jewish (Appendix A), healthcare professionals, especially in light of certain legal protections.  

 A Physician’s duty to treat patients afflicted with chronic pain and/or addiction, is established under 

Federal Law. Several medical, scientific, and ethical guidelines address the needs of palliative and chronic pain 

and addiction care. A duty to treat disabling chronic pain or substance use disorder is established under the 

American Disability Act §126, CFR 42 § 2.61-2.67, the Americans with Disabilities Act, 42 U.S.C. §12101, et 

seq., the Rehabilitation Act of 1973, 29 U.S.C. §701, et seq., the Affordable Care Act, 42 U.S.C. §18116, et seq, 

Nuremberg Code §4 and §44 Code of the Geneva Convention, Joint Commission on Accreditation of 

Healthcare Organizations (JCAHO) ‘pain as the 5th Vital Sign’, Emergency Medical Treatment and Labor Act 

(EMTALA) laws, Controlled Substance Act (CSA 802 (56)(c)), and HHS Pain Management Best Practices.  

A duty to treat substance use disorders or addicted patients by Data Waived Physicians, arises through the Drug 

Addiction Treatment Act of 2000 (Data 2000) and also under Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services 

Administration (SAMSHA).   

Defendants are engaged in a national pattern of deliberate violation of search and seizure, payments, and 

violation of CFR 42 § 2.61-2.67, The American Disability Act, the DATA Waived Program of SAMSHA 

(Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration). Despite the 2019 Center for Disease Control 

(CDC) admission that their opioid guidelines have been “misapplied” by many states, insurers and physicians as 
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hard limits on opioid prescribing, the U.S. Department of Justice (USDOJ) and Drug Enforcement Agency 

(DEA) have continued selectively targeting doctors for prosecution when they prescribe opioids doses above 90 

Morphine Milliequivalent. As a result, the number of physicians still willing to treat pain with opioid analgesics 

has dropped precipitously. Many thousands of patients have been involuntarily tapered or withdrawn from 

opioid therapy leaving them tortured with unrelenting painful conditions.   

Saint Louis University Journal of Health Law and Policy states that “while many physicians are 

registered to prescribe scheduled drugs, pain treatment advocates argue that many of them do not prescribe 

scheduled drugs, or do not prescribe them on a long-term basis, and the burden of prescribing opiates for 

chronic pain patients falls primarily on approximately 4,000-6,000 physicians who specialize in pain 

management.” The American Medical Association has identified 5,875 pain management practitioners in the 

country. Qlarant, HFPP and the USDOJ have already criminally indicted over 1,700 of these physicians. 

Qlarant’s artificial intelligence places 17,500 physicians in the high-risk category which is roughly three times 

the number of physicians that actually treat pain in the United States, thereby intentionally and erroneously 

classifying all U.S. physicians who treat pain as high-risk physicians. Even though Qlarant’s artificial 

intelligence program places all pain management and substance use disorder physicians in a high-risk category, 

McCash testified in Federal Court that Qlarant’s artificial intelligence then further subclassifies these “high 

risk” pain management physicians to roughly target 1,000 physicians per year (which is roughly 20% of all pain 

management practitioners in the United States) with referral for criminal indictments.  

Additionally, Qlarant’s artificial intelligence computer programs are admitted to be pilot programs and 

are thus “medical or scientific experiments not necessitated by the medical treatment of a protected person” and 

are thus prohibited by International Law. According to Article 147 of Geneva convention, HHS, CMS 

Medicare, DEA, HFPP, and Qlarant are conducting biological experiments on protected persons (patients 

suffering from chronic diseases or addiction) which is a grave breach of the Geneva Convention. HFPP and 

Qlarant’s data analytic programs and the utilization of HHS and DEA “healthcare provider conviction engines” 

in addition to controlled substance algorithms against sick patients suffering from disease are crimes against 

humanity violating: Nuremberg Code #1: Voluntary Consent; Nuremberg Code #2: Yield Fruitful Results 

Unprocurable By Other Means; Nuremberg Code #3: Base Experiments on Natural History of Disease; 

Nuremberg Code #4: Avoid All Unnecessary Suffering and Injury; Nuremberg Code #5: No Experiment to be 

Conducted if There’s Reason to Think Injury Will Occur; Nuremberg Code #6: Risk Should Never Exceed the 

Benefit; Nuremberg Code #7: Preparation Made Against Remote Possibility of Injury, Disability or Death; 

Nuremberg Code #8: Experiment Must Be Conducted by Scientifically Qualified Persons; Nuremberg Code #9: 

The Freedom to Bring the Experiment to an End At Any Time; Nuremberg Code #10: Bring the Experiment to 

an End At Any Time if There’s Probable Cause of it Resulting in Injury or Death.   
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Qlarant and the HFPP private insurers acted under the color of law, under the direction, control, and 

supervision of law enforcement as a government contractor, agent and/or State Actor. Neither Qlarant nor the 

HFPP private insurers have qualified or absolute immunity.  Defendants DEA and HHS in partnership with 

HFPP and Qlarant is specifically targeting physicians and pharmacists who treat patients with pain or substance 

use disorders in direct violation of Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) guidelines, Health and 

Human Services Pain Management Best Practices Inter-Agency Task Force Report, National Committee for 

Quality Assurance (NCQA), Healthcare Effectiveness Data and Information Set (HEDIS), among others. 

HHS and DEA actively advocate with the State and Federal Law Enforcement to close the opioid and 

non-opioid channels of medical treatments for chronic pain and/or substance use disorder. Defendants HHS and 

DEA advocate on behalf of the HFPP without demonstrating what alternative channels are best for the health, 

safety, and the general welfare of the population and violate the physician’s duty to treat painful conditions and 

substance use disorders.  Despite Defendants HHS and DEA actions to greatly reduce the manufacturing and 

distribution of opioid and other controlled substance medications, there is a multi-year exponential rise in the 

deaths of U.S. Citizens. By removing necessary medications as already determined by the U.S. federal 

government to have benefits that exceed the risks, the Defendants HHS and DEA have violated international 

law under the Geneva Convention, and are preventing the utilization of medications by U.S. physicians and 

pharmacists to treat chronic pain and addiction diseases, which is their lawful duty.  Title 18, U.S.C., Section 

241, provides criminal and civil sanctions for the violation of the Geneva Convention. A private entity who 

voluntarily chooses to violate the Geneva Convention lacks any possible qualified or absolute immunity.  Title 

18, U.S.C., Section 242 also prohibits the deprivation of Rights Under the Color of Law. HFPP members acted 

in whole or in part, under the direction, control, supervision of law enforcement via USDOJ. HFPP via its 

employees, and board of directors were private entities, working under the color of law, to violate the Geneva 

Convention.  Upon information and belief these computerized data analytic algorithms were ratified by high 

level government employees and such conduct was unreasonable.  Defendants via its Senate confirmed 

principle officers and inferior officers, worked under the color of law, to violate the Geneva Convention.  

Intervenor has standing as a medical professional and human being damaged by these violations of the Geneva 

Convention by Defendants. 

The U.S. Constitution requires executive branch officials who exercise significant authority and discretion 

to be formally appointed in a manner the Appointments Clause specifies in Article II, Section 2. All principal 

officers must be nominated by the President and confirmed by the Senate before they are appointed. Inferior 

officers must undergo the same process unless Congress by law authorizes their appointment by the President or 

a department head. The Framers specified these appointment rules to ensure that all high government officials 

who exercise significant power over us would be accountable to the people in a meaningful way. The Supreme 
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Court established that rulemaking was one of those significant powers that only democratically accountable 

officers appointed in this manner could exercise. The Supreme Court has already held that the power to set 

national policy through regulations must be exercised solely by officers.   The Constitution requires regulations 

to be issued by appointed officials subject to the democratic process, not by unelected public servants which is 

why it is unconstitutional for career employees instead of democratically accountable Senate-confirmed 

principal officers of the United States to establish the rules that govern us.  

The text of the Appointments Clause recognizes two levels of officers and specifies how each may be 

appointed:  All “principal officers” are nominated by the President, and the Senate must consent before the 

President appoints them. Ambassadors, Supreme Court Justices, and certain other public ministers must follow 

this route. Department heads also fall in this category by implication since they are not inferior officers.  

“Inferior officers” must be appointed in this same manner unless Congress enacts a law making an exception to 

Senate confirmation. Congress may by law vest the appointment of an inferior officer in the President alone, in 

the heads of the executive departments, or in the courts of law.  

As the power to issue final rules can only be exercised by a constitutional officer of the United States 

appointed according to the Appointments Clause, the agencies must list all final rules in the Federal Register 

including the final rule number, issuing division of HHS or DEA, rule title, publication date, type of action the 

rule took, and each signer and their title.  Final rules promulgated or issued by HHS or DEA non-Senate 

confirmed signers are “unconstitutional” because non-Senate confirmed signers, including inferior officers and 

civil service employees, cannot be principal officers.  Furthermore, the appointment of any employee below the 

DEA or HHS Secretary granted to issue final rules would not satisfy the U.S. Constitution with respect to the 

Appointments Clause as the law does not allow Congress to confer the authority to appoint inferior officers on 

bureau or other subagency heads. Anyone subordinate hired by the DEA commissioner or HHS secretary are 

constitutionally incapable of exercising significant final agency authority, including issuing final rules that are 

binding on the public.  The U.S. Supreme Court has explicitly held that the power to issue final rules is a power 

that, at the least, must be exercised by an officer.  Rulemaking is legally equivalent to William Blackstone’s 

classic definition of the lawmaking power, since “rulemakers” have the power to impose a “rule of civil conduct 

prescribed by the supreme power in a state, commanding what is right and prohibiting what is wrong.” Thus 

only principal officers have the power to issue final and unreviewable rules, take a final agency action, engage 

in the promulgation of metrics and standards.   

Utilization of medical guidelines including but not limited to the CDC Opioid Guidelines within 

Defendants’ data analytic, pre-crime, criminal forensic tools are unlawful as they are not rules promulgated by 

principal officers.  According to Article II, Section 3: The Constitution does not say that the President shall 

execute the laws, but that he shall Take Care that the laws be faithfully executed, by others. There are five 
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categories of executive power: 1) there is that executive power which the Constitution confers directly upon the 

President by the opening clause of article II and, in more specific terms, by succeeding clauses of the same 

article; 2) there is the sum total of the powers which acts of Congress at any particular time confer upon the 

President; 3) there is the sum total of discretionary powers which acts of Congress at any particular time confer 

upon heads of departments and other executive (administrative) agencies of the National Government; 4) there 

is the power which stems from the duty to enforce the criminal statutes of the United States; 5) there are so-

called ministerial duties which admit of no discretion as to the occasion or the manner of their discharge. 

Williams v. United States 

It is the President of the United States duty to Take Care that the laws be faithfully executed as it is 

constitutionally impossible for Congress ever to entrust the construction of its statutes to anybody but the 

President. See Article II, Section 3: He shall from time to time give to the Congress Information of the State of 

the Union, and recommend to their Consideration such Measures as he shall judge necessary and expedient; he 

may, on extraordinary Occasions, convene both Houses, or either of them, and in Case of Disagreement 

between them, with Respect to the Time of Adjournment, he may adjourn them to such Time as he shall think 

proper; he shall receive Ambassadors and other public Ministers; he shall take Care that the Laws be faithfully 

executed, and shall Commission all the Officers of the United States. See also United States v. Midwest Oil Co. 

Supremacy Clause Article VI, Clause 2: This Constitution, and the Laws of the United States which shall be 

made in Pursuance thereof; and all Treaties made, or which shall be made, under the Authority of the United 

States, shall be the supreme Law of the Land; and the Judges in every State shall be bound thereby, any Thing 

in the Constitution or Laws of any State to the Contrary notwithstanding. Congress’s intent to supplant state 

authority in a particular field may be explicitly stated in the statute's language or implicitly contained in its 

structure and purpose.  Types of implied pre-emption include: field pre-emption, where the scheme of federal 

regulation is so pervasive as to make reasonable the inference that Congress left no room for the States to 

supplement it; conflict pre-emption, where compliance with both federal and state regulations is a physical 

impossibility, or where state law stands as an obstacle to the accomplishment and execution of the full purposes 

and objectives of Congress. 

Express Preemption argues that [a]bsent a clear statement to the contrary, Congress’s reference to the 

‘regulatory authority of a State’ should be read to preserve, not preempt, the traditional prerogative of the States 

to delegate their authority to their constituent parts.  Common-law claims, based on design defect, failure to 

warn, breach of express warranty, fraudulent misrepresentation, and conspiracy to defraud, were preempted 

whether only positive state enactments came within the scope of the clauses. The U.S. Supreme Court 

concluded that the 1965 section reached only positive state law and did not preempt common-law actions; a 

defective design claim was not preempted. Geier v. American Honda Motor Co. The Court enunciated a three-
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part test: (1) the pervasiveness of federal regulation, (2) federal occupation of the field as necessitated by the 

need for national uniformity, and (3) the danger of conflict between state and federal administration.  Congress 

historically has not been permitted to interfere with the final judgments of courts, which have the right to make 

determinations on how the law applies in specific cases and controversies. The Framers intended Article III of 

the Constitution to give federal courts the power to determine which cases they could review as well as the 

power of actually reviewing them. 

Intervenor Adelglass has standing as a medical professional and human being damaged by these 

violations of the Geneva Convention by Defendants. In 1948, the Convention on the Prevention and Punishment 

of the Crime of Genocide defined genocide as “acts committed with the intent to destroy, in whole or in part, a 

national, ethnical, racial or religious group, as such.” It also specified that these acts include not just killing but 

also attempted group destruction through “bodily or mental harm,” impeding reproduction, harsh living 

conditions and child removal.  The U.N. remediation guidelines for mass human rights violations like genocide 

have some clear goals. These include safeguarding basic human rights of the offended group, investigating 

abuses and providing redress. Intervenor Adelglass’s primary focus is on validating the millions of Americans 

subjected to serial violations of their federal rights under color of law. In describing violations of their rights via 

the Motion to Intervene, Adelglass attests to a persistent, national pattern of persecution which for innumerable 

Americans is torture as proscribed by the International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR); 

Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment; and The 

Universal Declaration of Human Rights.   

Intervenor Adelglass argues that the apparent goals of persecution by the Defendants (which for some 

clearly amounts to mental torture) overlaying persistent, extreme U.S. legal system abuse are as follows: 1. 

Disparage and discredit targets through legal process; 2. Intimidate and perhaps terminate witnesses and/or 

targets; 3. Neutralize and eventually preempt the target's access to courts; 4. Impoverish the targets; and, 5. 

Incarcerate the targets.  Intervenor Adelglass argues that the Defendants violate Article 14, paragraph 1. of the 

ICCPR: All persons shall be equal before the courts and tribunals. In the determination of any criminal charge 

against him, or of his rights and obligations in a suit at law, everyone shall be entitled to a fair and public 

hearing by a competent, independent and impartial tribunal established by law. ICCPR, Art. 14, ¶1. Article 17 

of the ICCPR provides: 1. No one shall be subjected to arbitrary or unlawful interference with his privacy, 

family, home or correspondence, nor to unlawful attacks on his honor and reputation. 2. Everyone has the right 

to the protection of the law against such interference or attacks. ICCPR, Art. 17 “Everyone shall have the right 

to hold opinions without interference.” ICCPR, Art. 19, ¶1. This right is subject to restrictions, “but these shall 

only be such as are provided by law and are necessary: (a) For respect of the rights or reputations of others; (b) 

For the protection of national security or of public order (order public), or of public health or morals.” ICCPR, 
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Art. 19, ¶3 (a)-(b). “All persons are equal before the law and are entitled without any discrimination to the equal 

protection of the law. In this respect, the law shall prohibit any discrimination and guarantee to all persons equal 

and effective protection against discrimination on any ground such as race, color, sex, language, religion, 

political or other opinion, national or social origin, property, birth or other status.” ICCPR, Art. 26   

Articles of the Covenant or Convention alleged to have been violated by Defendants DEA and HHS- 

Convention against Torture and Other Cruel, Inhuman or Degrading Treatment or Punishment: Article 16, ¶1.: 

1. Each State Party shall undertake to prevent in any territory under its jurisdiction other acts of cruel, inhuman 

or degrading treatment or punishment which do not amount to torture as defined in article I, when such acts are 

committed by or at the instigation of or with the consent or acquiescence of a public official or other person 

acting in an official capacity. In particular, the obligations contained in articles 10, 11, 12 and 13 shall apply 

with the substitution for references to torture of references to other forms of cruel, inhuman or degrading 

treatment or punishment.   

DEA and HHS data analytics and controlled substances, physician conviction algorithms, induce the 

deliberate denial of diagnosis and treatment of patients who suffer from chronic pain or substance use disorders. 

The algorithms target older physicians or Jewish physicians. These USDOJ criminal forensic tools to create a 

“physician conviction engine” to cause the mass abandonment of sick patients are violations of Human Rights 

Under Article 32 of the 1949 Geneva Convention IV. See United States v. Karl Brandt. The algorithms violate 

international law including, U.N. General Assembly Resolution 60/147 (Basic Principles and Guidelines on the 

Right to a Remedy and Reparation for Victims of Gross Violations of International Human Rights Law and 

Serious Violations). Pursuant to Article 15 of the Rome Statute of the International Criminal Court, Intervenor 

Adelglass has discovered publicly available evidence probative of “Crimes against humanity” within the 

meaning of Article 7 in terms of “facilitating the commission of such a crime” and/or “contributing to the 

commission or attempted commission of such a crime by a group of persons acting with a common purpose” 

respectively within the meaning of Article 25, subparagraphs 3.(c) and (d). of said statute by Defendants DEA 

and HHS.   

Intervenor Adelglass is seeking additional evidence pursuant to FOIA to help sick patients receive 

medical treatment in compliance with Article 2, paragraph 3(a) and (b) of the International Covenant on Civil 

and Political Rights (ICCPR) which mandates effective domestic remedies for ICCPR violations under color of 

law and seek judicial relief of organized persecution and psychological torture attendant to organized legal 

system abuse by alleged violators through the literal weaponization of America’s legal system against 

physicians and pharmacists. “Crimes against humanity” which itself is a crime within jurisdiction of the 

International World Court, apparently “(f)or the purpose of facilitating the commission of such” crimes and/or 

“contributing to the commission or attempted commission of such (crimes) by a group of persons acting with a 
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common purpose”, both offenses within the respective meaning of Article 25, subparagraphs 3.(c) and (d). of 

the Rome Statute.  Public documents reveal that HHS, DEA, Qlarant, HFPP, Blue Cross Blue Shield 

Association (BCBSA) may have committed “Crimes against humanity” within the meaning of Article 7 in 

terms of “facilitating the commission of patient abandonment” and/or “contributing to the commission or 

attempted commission of such a crime by a group of persons acting with a common purpose” respectively 

within the meaning of Article 25, subparagraphs 3.(c) and (d).   

Intervenor Adelglass is part of the group of U.S. physicians and pharmacists who treat patients suffering 

from chronic diseases whom are at imminent risk of losing life, liberty, and/or property as a direct and 

proximate result of mutual international treaty and U.S. federal law violations which may stem from one or 

more acts of treason as defined by the U.S. Constitution and expounded upon by the U.S. Supreme Court. 

Alternatively, there may be further violations that stem from one or more torts cognizable under the U.S. 

Federal Tort Claims Act. Persecution of physicians and pharmacists through untested, predictive criminal 

forensic tools is causing increased overdose deaths of U.S. citizens which are crimes against humanity.   

Defective or untested criminal forensic tools may be intentionally corrupting the process by which one 

or more agents of U.S. government imply that our national government or one of its states has verified the 

veracity of evidence produced by these defective or untested HFPP or Qlarant criminal forensic tools. See, U.S. 

v. Rudberg, 122 F.3d 1199 The reckless actions of HHS, DEA, Qlarant, HFPP insurers and BCBSA are 

inducing via peaceful protest, national pain rallies where sick patients, the “People” being duly empowered to 

resist “any Form of Government . . . destructive” in the indicated manner of their lives, liberty, and/or 

property.  Sickly, U.S. citizen patients via peaceful protest are hereby wielding the right for themselves and as 

envoys for “the People to alter . . .” U.S. government such that they “seem most likely to effect Safety and 

Happiness” and that of our fellow countrymen and countrywomen as well as America’s children. Intervenor 

Adelglass seeks information pursuant to FOIA concerning the identification of past, present and future, 

physicians and pharmacists that are at imminent risk of losing life, liberty, and/or property as a direct and 

proximate result of America’s confirmed violation of its ICCPR – specifically the treaty’s Article 2, paragraph 

3(a) and (b) which mandate effective domestic remedies for ICCPR violations under color of law – and what 

may be the country’s de facto policy of extending impunity to HFPP, Blue Cross Blue Shield or Qlarant for 

their role in persistent, organized U.S. legal system abuse.   

America’s International Covenant on Civil and Political Rights (ICCPR) requires good faith execution 

of all corresponding administrative, investigative, adjudicatory, and legislative processes anticipated by U.N. 

General Assembly Resolution 60/147 (Basic Principles and Guidelines on the Right to a Remedy and 

Reparation for Victims of Gross Violations of International Human Rights Law and Serious Violations) on 

behalf of any and all American physicians, pharmacists or patients alleging to have endured organized U.S. 
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legal system abuse facilitated by unchecked judicial misconduct as of 1990 A.D. or later, plus U.S. ratification 

of the First Optional Protocol to its ICCPR. Sick patients who cannot achieve legal redress may be able to 

approach the U.N. Human Rights Council (UNHRCouncil) as a “class of Americans . . . who as of 1990 A.D. or 

later, exhausted all ostensible avenues of relief before the three (3) branches of U.S. federal government and 

appropriate state governments in seeking a fair and impartial redress of actual or reasonably perceived U.S. 

legal system abuse facilitated by unchecked regulatory capture by HFPP private insurers, and whose legal 

claims were respectively thwarted primarily due to America’s de facto policy of judicial impunity with regard to 

such allegations.  

      Defendants DEA and HHS Seek Unlawful Return On Investment Via Criminal Asset Forfeiture  

Private businesses that are willing to put moral and human rights concerns aside, are able to profit from the 

repression of fascist regimes. Many German companies have reckoned with histories of collaboration with the 

Nazi regime, among them: Hugo Boss, Mercedes-Benz, BMW and others. Nazism through contracts, slave 

labor, the appropriation of stolen goods or other means.  Nazi businesses didn’t profit only from forced labor. 

“Contracts with the Nazis were not uncommon for an exclusive circle of entrepreneurs who were in the 

friendship circle of SS leaders or had other connections,” says Christopher Kopper, a German professor of 

economics and business history. Another way businesses profited from the war was by using the free labor of 

people captured by Nazis—inmates in concentration camps and prisoners of war.  

The HFPP private insurers acquire market share either by eliminating Jewish physicians or acquire (without 

paying) market share of a number of eliminated Jewish healthcare businesses, a practice of appropriation copied 

from the Nazis.  In Nazi Germany, the industrialists who led the way were two huge German firms, I.G. 

Farben and Krupp, which are similar to Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and General Dynamics Information 

Technology.  Leaders of both of companies were among the few civilians who were later charged with war 

crimes at the Nuremberg Tribunals after World War II. These trials placed the story of their financial and moral 

support of the Nazis into the historical record. Krupp was a huge arms manufacturer and I.G. Farben was a vast 

chemical company which made everything from Bayer aspirin to Zyklon B, the poison used in the gas 

chambers.  https://www.forbes.com/sites/maddieberg/2019/04/02/more-than-a-dozen-of-europes-wealthiest-

billionaires-and-their-families-had-nazi-ties/?sh=581684706015 

As the book Hell’s Cartel explains, the history of the German industrialists’ support of Hitler shows “what 

can go wrong when political objectives and the pursuit of profit become dangerously entwined.” 

https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/how-big-business-bailed-out-nazis  Hitler stated that 

“private enterprise cannot be maintained in a democracy.”  Hitler also told the men that he would eliminate 

trade unions and communists. Hitler asked for their financial support and to back his vision for Germany.  

Likewise, the Defendants, BCBSA, and HFPP attempt to eliminate and discriminate against physicians and 

https://www.nytimes.com/1997/08/15/business/hugo-boss-acknowledges-link-to-nazi-regime.html
https://www.nytimes.com/1990/08/23/books/books-of-the-times-daimler-benz-and-its-nazi-history.html
https://www.dw.com/en/horsepower-under-the-hood-and-skeletons-in-the-closet-bmw-celebrates-100-years/a-19095189
http://www.archives.gov/research/captured-german-records/microfilm/m892.pdf
http://www.archives.gov/research/captured-german-records/microfilm/m892.pdf
http://www.archives.gov/research/captured-german-records/microfilm/m896.pdf
https://www.forbes.com/sites/maddieberg/2019/04/02/more-than-a-dozen-of-europes-wealthiest-billionaires-and-their-families-had-nazi-ties/?sh=581684706015
https://www.forbes.com/sites/maddieberg/2019/04/02/more-than-a-dozen-of-europes-wealthiest-billionaires-and-their-families-had-nazi-ties/?sh=581684706015
http://www.amazon.com/Hells-Cartel-Farben-Hitlers-Machine/dp/0805091432
https://www.brennancenter.org/our-work/analysis-opinion/how-big-business-bailed-out-nazis
https://books.google.com/books?id=GVVsCwAAQBAJ&pg=PT44&lpg=PT44&dq=%E2%80%9Cprivate+enterprise+cannot+be+maintained+in+a+democracy.%E2%80%9D&source=bl&ots=cWrZYGcoDM&sig=leOo_bCv9EP0Mhp4CrrRLRX_rE0&hl=en&sa=X&ved=0ahUKEwjY7Oys4eHMAhWKmh4KHbriAVwQ6AEIKjAD#v=onepage&q=%E2%80%9Cprivate%20enterprise%20cannot%20be%20maintained%20in%20a%20democracy.%E2%80%9D&f=false
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healthcare providers.  According to the opening of the tribunal against the directors of I.G. Farben, prosecutor 

U.S. Gen. Telford Taylor stated: “The indictment accuses these men of major responsibility for visiting upon 

mankind the most searing and catastrophic war in human history. It accuses them of wholesale enslavement, 

plunder, and murder.”  https://en.wikipedia.org/wiki/List_of_companies_involved_in_the_Holocaust 

In the book by Edwin Black (2001). IBM and the Holocaust: The Strategic Alliance Between Nazi Germany 

and America's Most Powerful Corporation.  Thomas Watson, the founder of IBM, directed his German 

subsidiary, Dehomag, to bid for the job of tabulating the results of a census the Nazi government wants to 

conduct. Thomas Watson knew that the census and other work that his German branch has performed for the 

Nazis has been used not just to count cars and cows but to identify Jews.  Per a comment of a Nazi statistician 

that "In using statistics the government now has the road map to switch from knowledge to deeds." 

https://www.theatlantic.com/magazine/archive/2001/04/hitlers-willing-business-partners/303146/ 

The Holocaust was worsened by the Hollerith tabulating machines and punch cards IBM/Dehomag 

leased to the Nazis which are the mathematical algorithmic precursors to the Defendants, Qlarant, HFPP, 

BCBSA own data analytic, pre-crime, criminal forensic, computer programs. The Nazi’s computer algorithms 

allowed Hitler's destruction of the Jews to occur rapidly and claimed many victims because of the harvest of 

deadly information recorded by the Hollerith machines, on IBM punch cards, by IBM/Dehomag employees 

working for the Nazi death bureaucracy. On the efficiency of the use of Nazi data analytic computers, Black 

provocatively contrasts Holland and France. The Nazis ordered censuses in both countries soon after they were 

occupied. In Holland, a country with "a well-entrenched Hollerith infrastructure," out of "an estimated 140,000 

Dutch Jews, more than 107,000 were deported, and of those 102,000 were murdered—a death ratio of 

approximately 73 percent." In France, where the "punch card infrastructure was in complete disarray," of the 

estimated 300,000 to 350,000 Jews in both German-occupied and Vichy zones, 85,000 were deported, of whom 

around 3,000 survived. "The death ratio for France was approximately 25 percent." (Exhibit 5) 

Prior to the market is the corporation, led by human beings who cannot escape responsibility for its 

actions.  A capitalist free market " is an efficient system for investment and production but cannot achieve 

moral aims itself. In this it resembles its physical technology. A hypodermic syringe can be used to inject 

cyanide or penicillin. It is not an independent moral agent."  Prior to technology are the "independent moral 

agents" who made it—syringes and tabulating machines don't drop from heaven. And prior to the corporation—

to continue our movement away from the market to the persons seeking to enter it—are the owners, the 

stockholders. "Holleriths could not function without IBM's unique paper. Watson controlled the paper.... 

Holleriths could not function without cards. Watson controlled the cards.... Hollerith systems could not function 

without machines and spare parts. Watson controlled the machines and spare parts." The HFPP private insurers, 

GDIT, Qlarant, and Blue Cross Blue Shield provide information to the Defendants to criminally prosecute 
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physicians and healthcare providers.  The capitalist free market is indeed amoral, as the HFPP through the 

Defendants seek to “concentrate” Jewish physicians, Black and Brown skin, Black, Hispanic, and Asian 

physicians into American camps and prisons for the purposes of criminal asset forfeiture.   

In evaluating prejudice against criminal defendant physicians, the court must consider, among other 

things, the centrality of the evidence to the case and its importance in establishing the elements of the crime or 

the motive or intent of the defendant; the probative value and reliability of the secondary or substitute evidence; 

the nature and probable weight of factual inferences or other demonstrations and kinds of proof allegedly lost to 

the accused; the probable effect on the jury from absence of the evidence, including dangers of unfounded 

speculation and bias that might result to the defendant if adequate presentation of the case requires explanation 

about the missing evidence.   

“People should not be punished merely for being wealthy, just as they should not be punished merely for 

being poor, but if someone profited from a crime, then the fruits of their crime is fair game to show their guilt 

and motive.”  The Defendants algorithms are utilized by the USDOJ and Qlarant prejudicially by engaging in a 

continuous course of conduct designed to equate wealth with wrongdoing and to appeal to the potential bias of 

not-so-wealthy jurors against wealthy physician defendants.  See generally United States v Stahl, 616 F 2d 30, 

31-32 (2d Cir 1980); see also United States v Holmes, 2021 WL 2044470 **5-6 (ND Cal 2021) where the 

Government sought to defend the tenor of remarks made in summation by stating that it "properly argued to the 

jury the logical inference that a man whose total life is geared to make money in real estate would also, in all 

likelihood, be driven by greed to pay the $10,000 bribe in order not to pay substantial monies in taxes." "It 

impermissibly equates success, affluence and a single-minded occupation with one's business affairs with greed 

and corruption." These examples indicate the nature of the prosecutor's trial strategy — a strategy that obviously 

included a persistent appeal to class prejudice. Because such appeals are improper and have no place in a court 

room, United States v. Socony-Vacuum Oil Co., 310 U.S. 150, 239-40, 60 S.Ct. 811, 84 L.Ed. 1129 (1940); New 

York Central R. Co. v. Johnson, 279 U.S. 310, 319, 49 S.Ct. 300, 73 L.Ed. 706 (1929); Koufakis v. Carvel, 425 

F.2d 892, 900-905 (2d Cir. 1970); Benham v. United States, 215 F.2d 472, 473-75 (5th Cir. 1954); Drasner v. 

Thomson McKinnon Securities, Inc., 433 F.Supp. 485, 489-91 (S.D.N.Y. 1977)  

In Tumey v. Ohio, 273U.S 510 (1927), the US Supreme Court struck down a scheme that financially 

rewarded for successfully prosecuting cases related to the Prohibition of alcohol. Despite complete field 

preemption under Controlled Substance Act (CSA 802 (56)(c)), the Defendants are public agencies, or agents of 

the government, who have the intent to benefit from prosecution of U.S. Citizens by the Controlled Substance 

Act. Pursuant to Tumey, Defendants and the HFPP “cartel” private insurance partners, are not entitled to 

pecuniary gains from prosecutions of healthcare providers under the Controlled Substance Act. The Excessive 

Fines Clause now covers healthcare providers in both the federal and state courts. The U.S. Supreme Court’s 
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landmark decision in Timbs v. Indiana protects physicians who have been facing the civil or criminal forfeiture 

of assets that took them a lifetime to earn. The Return of Investment strategies by Defendants or other private 

health insurers of the HFPP is unlawful. Forfeiture under §§881(a)(4) and (a)(7) is a monetary punishment and, 

as such, is subject to the limitations of the Excessive Fines Clause. The determinative question is not, as the 

Government would have it, whether forfeiture under §§ 881(a)(4) and (a)(7) is civil or criminal. “The Eighth 

Amendment's text is not expressly limited to criminal cases, and its history does not require such a limitation. 

Rather, the crucial question is whether a forfeiture is monetary punishment, with which the Excessive Fines 

Clause is particularly concerned. Because sanctions frequently serve more than one purpose, the fact that a 

forfeiture serves remedial goals will not exclude it from the Clause's purview, so long as it can only be 

explained as serving in part to punish.” See United States v. Halper, 490 U. S. 435, 448. “Consideration must be 

given to whether, at the time the Eighth Amendment was ratified, forfeiture was understood at least in part as 

punishment and whether forfeiture under §§ 881(a)(4) and (a)(7) should be so understood today.” See Austin v. 

United States, 509 U.S. 602 (1993). A review of English and American law before, at the time of, and following 

the ratification of the Eighth Amendment demonstrates that forfeiture generally, and statutory in rem forfeiture 

in particular, historically have been understood, at least in part, as punishment. See Peisch v. Ware, 4 Cranch 

347, 364. “Forfeitures under §§ 881 (a)(4) and (a)(7) are properly considered punishment today, since nothing 

in these provisions contradicts the historical understanding, since both sections clearly focus on the owner's 

culpability by expressly providing "innocent owner" defenses and by tying forfeiture directly to the commission 

of drug offenses, and since the legislative history confirms that Congress understood the provisions as serving 

to deter and to punish. Thus, even assuming that the sections serve some remedial purpose, it cannot be 

concluded that forfeiture under the sections serves only that purpose.” See Austin v. United States, 509 U.S. 602 

(1993) In Timbs, the state sought civil forfeiture of property valued at more than four times the maximum 

monetary fine that could even be assessed for a criminal drug conviction. The Indiana Supreme Court held that 

the Excessive Fines Clause applied only to federal action and was inapplicable to the individual States. The U.S. 

Supreme Court vacated that decision and unequivocally held that the protections of the Eighth Amendment’s 

Excessive Fines Clause also apply to the states under the Fourteenth Amendment. The U.S. Supreme Court has 

also ruled in Austin v. United States that civil in rem forfeitures in the federal context fall within the protection 

of the Eighth Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause when they are at least partially punitive.   

The Defendants and HFPP private insurers strategies of seeking criminal forfeitures of an excessive 

amount of a physician’s assets amounts to nothing more than an unconstitutionally excessive punitive fine as 

determined by the authority of the U.S. Supreme Court. The Eighth Amendment’s Excessive Fines Clause is an 

incorporated protection applicable to the States under the Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process 

Clause. The Fourteenth Amendment’s Due Process Clause incorporates and renders applicable to the States Bill 



36 
 

of Rights protections “fundamental to our scheme of ordered liberty,” or “deeply rooted in this Nation’s history 

and tradition.” McDonald v. Chicago, 561 U. S. 742, “The prohibition embodied in the Excessive Fines Clause 

carries forward protections found in sources from Magna Carta to the English Bill of Rights to state 

constitutions from the colonial era to the present day. Protection against excessive fines has been a constant 

shield throughout Anglo-American history for good reason: Such fines undermine other liberties. They can be 

used, e.g., to retaliate against or chill the speech of political enemies. They can also be employed, not in service 

of penal purposes, but as a source of revenue. The historical and logical case for concluding that the Fourteenth 

Amendment incorporates the Excessive Fines Clause is indeed overwhelming.” See Timbs v. Indiana. Under 

Tumey, the profiting from conviction arising from conviction, in the presence of a biased judiciary, under 

alcohol prohibition was prohibited. Furthermore, the impartiality regulation, 28 C.F.R. § 45.2 prohibits a 

USDOJ employee, without written authorization, from participating in a criminal investigation or prosecution if 

he has a personal or political relationship with any person or organization substantially involved in the conduct 

that is the subject of the investigation or prosecution, or any person or organization which he knows has a 

specific and substantial interest that would be directly affected by the outcome of the investigation or 

prosecution.  Defendants with its private partners at the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association and HFPP 

unlawfully gained due to substantial criminal restitution from most of the criminally prosecuted physicians on 

my list of 175 Jewish physicians (Appendix A). 

  

Office of Inspector General (OIG) Measures of NBI Medic Effectiveness Raises Concerns  

The U.S. Department of Health & Human Services Office of Inspector General produced a comprehensive 

evaluation report of Qlarant/ NBI MEDIC called, The MEDIC Produced Some Positive Results but More Could 

be Done to Enhance its Effectiveness by Daniel R. Levinson, Inspector General, OEI-03-17-00310, July 2018. 

In the report, OIG states that the MEDIC (Qlarant) also conducts projects to identify high-risk providers. For 

example, in 2016, CMS instructed the MEDIC to conduct a data analysis project to identify prescribers of 

Schedule II drugs with irregular billing patterns compared to their peers. In response, the MEDIC developed its 

Outlier Prescribers of Schedule II Controlled Substances project to score providers that prescribe Schedule II 

drugs as high, medium, or low risk.   

The MEDIC can create “criminal health law” separate from U.S. Congress. The MEDIC can modify the 

identification criteria of its algorithms to ensure a steady supply of U.S. physician criminal referrals.  OIG 

documents that the number of high-risk providers identified by the MEDIC more than tripled from 1,281 

providers in 2014 to 3,903 in 2017.  In addition to the Outlier Prescribers project, in 2017 CMS instructed the 

MEDIC to complete an opioid-focused Schedule II drugs data analysis project. In response, the MEDIC 
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developed the Opioid Analgesic Schedule II Controlled Substances project to specifically score providers that 

prescribe Schedule II opioids.  

The MEDIC has conducted additional opioid-related projects. The TRIO model in PLATO identifies 

prescribers with a high risk of facilitating beneficiary drug abuse by prescribing a combination of carisoprodol 

and alprazolam, with either hydrocodone or oxycodone—one of the most widely used and abused combinations 

of drugs.  Through this process USDOJ and OIG can arrest and prosecute U.S. physicians that prescribe certain 

combinations of medications without knowledge of the physician’s intent and without fulfilling the scienter 

requirement, that separate from U.S. Congress, the USDOJ, DEA, HHS and HFPP have determined to be 

“criminal combinations” of medications, without consideration of the impact on the substantial population of 

patients needing opioid therapy and anxiolytics or muscle relaxants, for improved function and quality of life.  

Another example of the MEDIC’s opioid-related work is a project that identifies prescribers who may be 

culpable in the overdose death of a beneficiary by comparing the date of death with the date of opioid 

prescriptions, without the benefit of any toxicology reports on the deceased patient.  The software then indicates 

or determines to a theoretical high degree of certainty a causal relation between a prescription of a controlled 

substance and subsequent overdose death.  As with pharmacies, the MEDIC conducts a quarterly Prescriber 

Spike Analysis, which identifies prescribers who meet a dollar threshold in one of four categories of drugs, 

including Schedule II drugs. The Prescriber Spike Analysis reviews various databases for additional criteria and 

identifies outlier prescribers for further review and possible investigation, with no consideration of the nuances 

of individual practices and variations in daily patient loads.  

Despite an increase in opioid-related data analysis projects, the MEDIC started fewer investigations and 

referred fewer cases related to opioids from 2014 to 2017.  From 2014 to 2017, the MEDIC initiated more data 

analysis projects related to opioids, but the number of opioid-related investigations the MEDIC conducted 

decreased. The number of opioid-related case referrals increased from 2014 through 2016 before dropping 

sharply in 2017.  In response to a mandate from Congress, OIG evaluated the MEDIC’s efforts to identify, 

combat, and prevent fraud in Medicare Part C and Part D quoting, “While the MEDIC’s reported recoveries 

resulted in a positive return on investment ($3 in recoveries for every $1 invested in 2017), CMS has no 

measures that specifically assess the MEDIC’s effectiveness” and validation studies of their algorithms are 

apparently lacking. Without specific measures, it is unclear how CMS assesses the MEDIC’s effectiveness in 

fighting fraud.”  Quoting OIG, “Through its increased proactive analyses, the MEDIC was able to identify 

thousands of high-risk leads involving drugs, including opioids. The impact of these activities, however, cannot 

be measured as plan sponsors are not required to report to CMS the actions taken in response to these leads 

which were obtained with the MEDIC’s algorithm, again with no validation studies, to address this issue, OIG 

has consistently recommended that CMS require plan sponsors to report information on fraud and abuse.” 
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Newly released information to Plaintiff Anand from OIG and HHS-CMS Medicare pursuant to FOIA Request 

2020-0582 refers to HFPP insurers and Qlarant/ NBI Medic supporting HFPP private health insurers including 

Blue Cross Blue Shield Special Investigation Units activities as outlined in UPIC SOW Section 5.8.1.  

 According to the MEDIC Statement of Work, the MEDIC should use research and experience in the field to 

develop new approaches and data analysis techniques to identify risks to Medicare Part C and Part D. Analyses 

of data should identify areas vulnerable to fraud, waste, and abuse and identify potential incidents of fraud, 

waste, and abuse, again without the performance of any validation studies to substantiate that they are not 

targeting well-intended physicians. The MEDIC is required to use the PLATO modeling system to identify 

fraud, waste, and abuse patterns. PLATO incorporates a real-time predictive-modeling fraud detection process 

according to the NBI MEDIC. From OIG’s request for the MEDIC information, OIG determined what measures 

the MEDIC has developed to help identify whom the Medic portrays as high-risk pharmacies and high-risk 

providers. OIG summarized the number of alleged high-risk pharmacies and high-risk providers that the 

MEDIC identified for 2014 through 2017. According to OIG from 2015 to 2017, the number of complaints 

referred to plan sponsors soared from 0 to 5,049, corresponding to an abrupt increase in prosecution of 

physicians and healthcare providers.  

  

The Defendants Target Healthcare Providers Based On Skin Color and Religion 

Defendants’ data analytics, controlled substance medication algorithms, and healthcare fraud computer 

programs induce the denial of treatment to patients and target “colored”, non-white, and Jewish physicians via a 

BCBSA, Qlarant, GDIT, HFPP, CMS, OIG, USDOJ “physician conviction engine” which are violations of 

Human Rights Under Article 32 of the 1949 Geneva Convention IV. See United States v. Karl Brandt A duty to 

treat patients afflicted with chronic pain and/or addiction, is established under U.S. Federal Law including 

Affordable Care Act, Mental Health Parity and Addiction Equity Act, Rehabilitation Act, American Disability 

Act, and Drug Addiction Treatment Act of 2000 (Data 2000).  Several medical, scientific, and ethical guidelines 

address the needs of palliative pain, chronic pain and addiction care.  

Defendants’ algorithms classify patients afflicted by diseases of chronic pain and addiction as “useless 

eaters” or “superutilizers” and undeserving of controlled substance medications which is a human rights 

violation, unethical, and an abomination (Exhibit 6).  Data analytic, computer methods classify certain U.S. 

Citizens who require treatment with controlled substances, as superutilizers and/or “useless eaters” whom 

overuse law enforcement with excessive calls for service, excessive alcohol and drug arrests, overuse of health 

resources with excessive ER visits or mental health facilities, overuse of jails through excessive arrests, 

homeless people or unemployed people, and/or overuse of prescription narcotics.  Mass classification of human 

beings in a society was previously attempted by the German Third Reich with disastrous consequences for the 
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entire World.  Defendants’ data analytics, mass classification of patients through the HFPP-GDIT-Blue Cross 

Blue Shield database is ideologically similar to the Nazi, Deutsche Hollerith Maschinen Gesellsehaft, mass 

classification “final solution” computer program. 

Defendants’ algorithms are now deliberately being used in the specific occupational targeting of U.S. 

physicians, whom are engaged in the treatment of patients afflicted with diseases that are costly to HFPP and 

other Blue Cross Blue Shield Association (BCBSA) Franchisees.  Defendants’ encouragement of the 

persecution of physicians who chose to treat all human beings, including humans classified by Defendants’ as 

“superutilizers” or “useless eaters”, is inducing a chilling effect of compassionate treatment by U.S. physicians, 

similar to that experienced in the German Third Reich via a Nazi government eugenics program that encouraged 

physicians to abandon and forcibly sterilize German citizens deemed to be “useless eaters” or “superutilizers”. 

 Defendants in concert with BCBSA, HFPP, and USDOJ has invented a data analytics, computer program 

which intentionally misclassifies Jewish physicians among other providers who are engaged in the treatment of 

addiction and/or chronic pain as drug dealers.  The purpose of this private-public partnership is to steal and 

appropriate Jewish physician’s property via criminal asset forfeiture by falsely labeling them and convicting 

them under current U.S. law as drug dealers.  The methods and manners utilized by Defendants are similar and 

analogous to the methods that the Nazi Party of the German Third Reich used via German Courts of Justice to 

appropriate Jewish and Gypsy property and the targeting of minority races through the passage of the 

Nuremberg Race Laws (Exhibit 7), because these small minority groups lacked political support within 

Germany.  The Nuremberg Laws allowed one group of German people to discriminate against another group of 

people for isolation in concentration camps whereupon their property would be taken from them.  

A system of private-public cooperation between Defendants, HFPP, BCBSA, HHS and Medicare contractor, 

Qlarant, for the sole purpose of appropriating Jewish American physicians’ property by purposely mislabeling 

them and classifying them as “drug dealers” whereupon the Jewish American physicians’ property can be taken 

via criminal asset forfeiture is an unconstitutional process that was not intended by the Founding Father’s of the 

United States.  The Defendants, HFPP, Blue Cross Blue Shield Association, and Qlarant “physician conviction 

engine”, classifies Jewish American physicians as drug dealers for appropriation of Jewish physician property 

under U.S. criminal asset forfeiture law.  Defendants’ data analytics, pre-crime, computer programs and 

criminal asset forfeiture schemes are a significant and severe violation of the Constitutional rights of US 

citizens.  Defendants use of analogous Nazi Hollerith computer algorithms in the classification of human beings 

for the sole purpose of appropriating their property violates United States Constitutional Law. 

These intentional Constitutional violations by Defendants, analogous to the Nazi appropriation scheme, are 

subverting the U.S. legal system to intentionally enrich HFPP and Blue Cross Blue Shield through the stealing 

of the property of Jewish physicians.  Defendants’ artificial intelligence computer is forcing U.S. physicians to 
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practice medicine according to Defendants, BCBSA, HFPP own perverted standards, under threats of marking 

unwilling physicians with false and contrived negative “Scarlet Letter” National Practitioner Data Bank Reports 

and/or felony convictions.  Defendants scheme of negative National Practitioner Data Bank Reports to 

permanently mark American physicians are similar and analogous to the Star of David system that was used by 

the Nazi German Third Reich to permanently mark and incapacitate Jewish people.   

Defendants has purposely used this scheme as in a partnership with USDOJ through the HFPP and BCBSA 

which are organizations that act as a shield for all HFPP’s own illegal actions, thus allowing HFPP to 

intentionally violate Intervenor Adelglass’ Constitutional Rights in his interactions and treatments of patients 

including: 1st U.S. Constitutional Amendment; Freedom of Association, 4th U.S. Constitutional Amendment, 

5th U.S. Constitutional Amendment, 14th U.S. Constitutional Amendment; Equal Protection Clause;  Article I, 

Section 10, Clause 1 U.S. Constitution; Contract Clause; Article 1, Section 8, Clause 3 of the U.S. Constitution; 

Due Process Rights of 14th Constitutional Amendment. 

Defendants and the HFPP have created a suspect class comprising of physicians who treat patients afflicted 

with tissue damage, chronic pain, and/or addiction. The data mining, data analysis, pre-crime analysis, and 

referral for criminal indictment are statutory violations of 42 CFR Part 2, American Disability Act, 

Rehabilitation Act, Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act (“HIPAA”) Privacy and Non-

discrimination Rules, violations of 4th, 5th & 14th U.S. Constitutional Amendments, and violations of the 

Controlled Substance Act 802. 56 (C).  

Defendants and its artificial intelligence computer policies are forcing ideological conformity with respect 

to controlled substances in the treatment of pain or substance abuse disorders upon U.S. citizens in 

contravention of the First Amendment, by forcing U.S. citizens to not seek out care or limiting access from 

Jewish physicians like Intervenor Adelglass by having USDOJ arrest and convict pain management physicians 

and/or substance abuse treatment doctors. Defendants’ data analytics, controlled substance medications 

program, encourages denial of treatment to patients in violation of established duty and law.  Defendants 

algorithms and targeting of Jewish physicians via a USDOJ/DEA/HHS physician conviction engine are 

violations of Human Rights Under Article 32 of the 1949 Geneva Convention IV. United States v. Karl Brandt  

A duty to treat patients afflicted with chronic pain and/or addiction, is established under several medical, 

scientific, and ethical guidelines which address the needs of palliative and chronic pain and addiction care.  

Defendants, BCBSA, Qlarant and HFPP artificial intelligence computer programs are “medical or scientific 

experiments not necessitated by the medical treatment of a protected person” and are thus prohibited. According 

to Article 147 of Geneva Convention, Defendants are conducting biological experiments on protected persons 

which is a grave breach of the Geneva Convention.   
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The Defendants’ computer software, criminal forensic tools uses plausibility evidentiary standard that 

misrepresents the statutory, beyond a reasonable doubt, criminal evidence standard. A public/private partnership 

named Healthcare Fraud Prevention Partnership (HFPP), selects physicians based on religion, race, gender, age, 

financial assets, real estate, and nation of origin as a suspect class, preventing those physicians from practicing 

medicine in a race, age or religious-neutral manner by coordinating selective enforcement of the Controlled 

Substance Act. Under the “State Involvement Doctrine” such behavior is improper because the computer 

software scheme violates the 14th Amendment, Equal Protection Clause of the U.S. constitution. The computer 

software, data analytic services, or data is sold to HFPP, for cash or in kind data information. The HFPP uses 

the data analytics to manufacture probable cause to induce, and coordinate criminal proceedings via an 

improper standard of evidence. Such behavior occurs in violation of 5 C.F.R. § 2635.501 - 503 (Subpart E - 

Impartiality in Performing Official Duties). The Defendants’ created a suspect class comprising of physicians 

who treat patients suffering from the diseases of chronic pain, and/or substance use disorders. Pursuant to 

Robinson v. California, Supreme Court of the United States, 1962 370 U.S. 660, 82 S. Ct. 1417; it was improper 

to qualify a person as a criminal, simply because of the medical status of the person. Statistical analysis by Dr. 

Adelglass and his colleagues of the selection process by analyzing indicted physicians reveals a classification 

selection process that has produced a disproportionate number of physicians of Jewish faith, minority racial 

origin (i.e. African American origin), independent medical practitioners, and elderly physicians (old age) for 

criminal investigation and prosecution. Health and Human Services (HHS), Drug Enforcement Agency (DEA), 

and the HFPP public-private joint enterprise’s, algorithms almost exclusively target older physicians, wealthy 

physicians, Jewish physicians, dark skinned “colored” physicians, or independent physicians (as compared to 

large physician groups), and this is readily evident by a list of nearly 1700 indicted healthcare providers in my 

possession which includes 175+ Jewish physicians (see Appendix A and B).    

See https://www.washingtonpost.com/history/2022/07/26/tuskegee-syphilis-experiment-50-

years/?utm_campaign=wp_post_most&utm_medium=email&utm_source=newsletter&wpisrc=nl_most&carta-

url=https%3A%2F%2Fs2.washingtonpost.com%2Fcar-ln-

tr%2F377ad92%2F62e00ce7cfe8a2160107ae0f%2F608ab442ade4e210587ea861%2F32%2F72%2F62e00ce7cf

e8a2160107ae0f&wp_cu=66f4fb3afebb7d837126376f3e964a43%7CC11D5C2C5BBD5C65E0530100007FBE

CA 

A potential reason for this discriminatory practice is that Defendants HHS and DEA, consider Jewish, 

“colored” or older physicians to be disposable and because there is less worry that there will be a public outcry 

by the general population for the targeting of Jewish, dark-skinned minority physicians and/or elderly 

physicians. A potential reason that Defendants HHS and DEA target wealthy physicians is to maximize return 

on investment (ROI). A potential reason that Defendants HHS and DEA target individual physicians or small 
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medical entities is that these smaller entities lack the financial resources for proper legal defense, allowing the 

USDOJ to achieve “easy” convictions regardless of the innocence or guilt of its victims. The targeting of 

individual, small, and upstart health entities by the Defendants allows their larger healthcare partners (i.e. 

private members of HFPP and the Defendants’ joint enterprise) to eliminate competition, restrain trade, and 

monopolize the U.S. healthcare market. The DEA and HHS “physician selection process” discriminates based 

on religion, age, race, gender and nation of origin and has no basis in truth, a basic necessity in the court of 

law.   

Likewise, the HFPP, GDIT, Qlarant, BCBSA and Defendants computer algorithms categorize religion, 

age, race and nation of origin as the “suspect class” which violates the 14th Amendment Equal Protection Clause 

of the US Constitution. The selection process generates probable cause, to induce criminal proceedings, against 

the “suspect class,” via the wrong standard of evidence. The computer software uses plausibility evidentiary 

standard that misrepresents the statutory, beyond a reasonable doubt, criminal evidence standard. The pattern 

amounts to a custom or practice amounting to a policy of deliberate indifference to the Constitutional rights of 

physicians who were classified as members of the suspect class. The Defendants’ discriminatory pattern 

amounts to cause violations of international law and human rights for sick, infirm, and disabled human patients. 

The members of the suspect class experience a common nucleus of operative facts, namely, an improper style of 

an investigation that violated the Equal Protection of the 14th U.S Constitutional Amendment, and the 5th U.S. 

Constitutional Amendment Due Process. These constitutional injuries among others are the actual and 

proximate cause of commercial or tort injury to suffering patients and their physicians.   

Dr. Adelglass’ list of nearly 175 Jewish healthcare providers (Appendix A) has documented hundreds of 

physicians that have represented to a Court of the United States, that physicians (especially Jewish) are being 

targeted in a pattern of religious discrimination by HFPP private insurance companies for the purposes of 

criminal asset forfeiture and incapacitation.  DEA and HHS data analytics and Controlled Substance medication 

“conviction algorithms”, induce the deliberate denial of diagnosis and treatment of patients who suffer from 

chronic pain or substance use disorders.  Judicial relief in allowing Intervenor Adelglass to obtain information 

pursuant to his Freedom of Information Act requests will allow the common public to evaluate the Red Flags 

used by federal agencies including the Defendants that identified Dr. Xiulu Ruan, America’s most educated 

physician, and hundreds of other competent, compassionate and educated physicians, as criminal drug 

traffickers, while avoiding the incrimination of any members of the Illicit Drug Cartels.   

Conclusion  

Dr. Howard Adelglass’ Motion for Intervention request is made in good faith and will provide vital 

information to the public, to potentially save the 1.2 million human lives as risk of dying as recently identified 

by Stanford–Lancet Commission.  The information obtained by my intervention and subsequent FOIA 
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litigation, including but not limited to, the “most likely drug seeking patients” in the Defendants’ computerized 

data analytic databases will allow U.S. physicians to avoid prescribing controlled substance medications to 

patients at high risk of abuse or diversion.  The information as requested concerning identified “bad actor” 

physicians, CMS preclusion lists or Healthcare Fraud Preventive Partnership (HFPP) “provider alert lists” 

would allow the U.S. public and/or patients to avoid physicians who would contribute to the worsening opioid 

epidemic and for those who are on these “Schindler” lists, challenge their validity.  Dr. Adelglass is seeking the 

data analytic, computer algorithms used to make these lists as well as any and all reliability and validation 

studies that were or were not completed including the Institutional Review Boards submissions for those 

studies.   Alternatively, the lists of identified patients or physicians may also be incorrect or erroneous. 

Information obtained through this litigation would allow physicians or patients to contest inaccurate 

identification within Defendants’ computerized databases.  Physicians and patients could seek removal from the 

USAO “bad actor”, CMS preclusion, or HFPP provider alert lists for any erroneous findings of the “Pill Mill 

Doctor Project” or other collected databases of the Defendants once the computerized, data analytic, pre-crime 

algorithms, criminal forensic tools are revealed and the validity and reliability appropriately scrutinized.  

  All relevant documents obtained through this litigation by Intervenor Adelglass pertaining to the March 

1, 2022, United States Supreme Court oral arguments in Ruan and Khan v. United States (Case 20-1410) by 

Deputy Solicitor General Eric J. Feigin, will instruct future generations of trained medical professionals, who 

voluntarily choose to work with dangerous medical substances and with vulnerable patients, the correct and 

proper objective manifestation of recognizable forms of medicine (See https://www.oyez.org/cases/2021/20-

1410).  Healthcare professionals can study and analyze documents as produced by the Defendants for the Office 

of Solicitor General that instructs and teaches the “honest effort standard and/or legal elements”, the “objective 

honest effort standard and/or legal elements”, the “objectively grounded mens rea and/or legal elements” and 

the “honest effort mens rea and/or legal elements”.  Information, documents, evidence, and results obtained 

pursuant to this litigation will be shared with every U.S. medical school, every U.S. pharmacy school, every 

U.S. nursing school, every U.S. podiatry school, every U.S. dental school, every medical conference, and 

through Continuing Medical Education (CME).    

The FOIA information will provide vital information to the public to save millions of American human lives 

as risk of dying as recently identified by President Joseph Biden’s “State of Union Address”, the “Stanford–

Lancet Commission on the North American Opioid Crisis”, and the bipartisan congressional commission on 

“Combating Synthetic Opioid Trafficking”.  The health and safety of millions of Americans compels the need 

for Intervenor Adelglass to seek an Order by the District Court for Intervention.   

Intervenor Adelglass is also requesting vital records or documents produced by the Defendants for the 

Office of Solicitor General that also involves the loss of substantial due process rights or matters of widespread 
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and exceptional media interest in which there exists possible questions about the government's integrity that 

affect public confidence. Ultimately, Intervenor Adelglass’s FOIA requests intends to obtain information from 

the Defendants that will potentially save millions of lives and help instruct U.S. physicians of the proscribed 

behavior to prevent future U.S. physician drug trafficking as well as identify the “most likely drug seeking 

patients” in whom prescribing controlled substance treatments should be avoided, should Defendants’ 

computerized “pre-crime” mathematical algorithms currently in use, prove to be valid.  

Furthermore, Intervenor Adelglass also believes that one or more of the parties to this HFPP agreement 

in concert with Defendants DEA and HHS, committed acts that are themselves torts against physicians 

nationwide in pursuance of the agreement amongst the partnership. The HFPP Insurers are private companies 

that are pervasively entwined with Qlarant, Blue Cross Blue Shield and General Dynamics Information 

Technology.  Intervenor Adelglass desires information on the formal and informal business arrangements of the 

private companies with the government agencies, DEA and HHS, to protect his own interests in pursuit of life, 

liberty and happiness. Intervenor Adelglass requires all information pertaining to developed computer 

algorithms as criminal forensic tools by USDOJ, Drug Enforcement Agency, Health and Human Services 

including all studies pertaining to the authentication and validation of the efficacy of these unique criminal 

forensic tools.   

Defendants’ criminal forensic tools that intentionally produce false results produce false legal 

proceedings via the legal doctrine of FALSUS IN UNO, FALSUS IN OMNIBUS, and are a threat to fair and 

impartial criminal tribunals. Intervenor Adelglass is a health care physician whose Constitutional rights were 

violated by the Defendants and therefore has standing to intervene by right and permission in Plaintiffs’ Anand 

and Pompy FOIA lawsuit, to assist in his upcoming criminal trial (U.S. v Howard Adelglass, case# 20 Cr. 605 

(KMW), Southern District of New York). Chronic pain patients nationwide have been protesting wholesale 

abandonment causing them to widely complain especially on social media of a persistent, national pattern of 

persecution and psychological torture imposed through U.S. legal system abuse, where physicians and their 

patients are: disparaged and discredited through legal process; intimidated for their passive grassroots activism 

through violence and/or threats of violence; denied the equal protection of law and corresponding access to 

courts; causing physician impoverishment through questionable job losses, unwarranted black listings, and/or 

the questionable imposition of fines, sanctions, and/or damages; incarceration of physicians under questionable 

circumstances. Intervenor Adelglass, with the help of other colleagues, has documented and identified that 

nationwide, previously incarcerated physicians, have uniformly expressed: procedural legal irregularities 

(particularly hearing request denials, untimely notice, and/or evidence tampering/destruction); one or more 

questionable departures from well-established legal precedent; undisclosed grounds for adverse credibility 

determinations; personal character disparagement; and total or substantial denial of relief through judicial 
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activism, i.e., an arguable usurpation of legislative powers; judicial proscriptions that are the functional, civil 

equivalent of ex post facto law; and/or total or substantial denial of relief pursuant to some form of Judicial 

Engineering.   

Intervenor Adelglass as a physician has the right or obligation to: (a) Take appropriate legislative and 

administrative and other appropriate measures to prevent these gross human rights violations (b) Investigate the 

alleged violations effectively, promptly, thoroughly and impartially and, where appropriate, take action against 

those allegedly responsible in accordance with domestic and international law; (c) Provide those who claim to 

be victims of these violations with equal and effective access to justice irrespective of who may ultimately be 

the bearer of responsibility for the violation; and (d) assist with providing effective remedies to victims, 

including reparation. Recurrences of discriminatory violations should be prevented, and responsible parties 

should be brought to justice. Thus, Dr. Adelglass’ intervention in the FOIA litigation will help Dr. Adelglass 

obtain his goals. Dr. Adelglass emphasizes to this Court that judicial relief should not be contingent on the 

wealth, celebrity, and/or political clout of targeted offenders or their victims.  The Defendants are unlawfully 

using discriminatory data analytic, pre-crime, criminal forensic, computer programs to “concentrate” Jewish 

American physicians into American camps and prisons for criminal asset forfeiture purposes.  The Defendants 

actions are unreasonable because the U.S. Executive Branch can print and create as much money as it wants.   

Unwanted or disfavored Jewish physicians and healthcare providers that are identified and categorized 

by Defendants’ computer algorithms, can seek reasonable alternatives like political asylum from Israel, a 

Country, created to allow politically persecuted Jews to live in political exile at peace. The Israeli government 

could also airlift and evacuate identified and categorized Jewish American physicians and healthcare providers, 

persecuted by the Defendants’ data analytic, mathematical algorithm, discriminatory, computer programs, to 

Israel for the purposes of peace and tranquility. 

For this, as well as the aforementioned reasons, Intervenor Adelglass respectfully requests that the Court 

GRANT, Motion for Intervention of Right Pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 24 (a) and 

Permissive Intervention Pursuant to Federal Rules of Civil Procedure Rule 24 (b).  

  

Respectfully submitted,  

  

/s/ Howard Adelglass M.D. 
                                                                                                 

Howard Adelglass M.D. 

151 E. 80 Street #2C, New York, NY 10075  

dradelglass@gmail.com  

Pro Se Plaintiff Intervenor       

Date: 7/30/2022         


